

[image: ]















[image: ]





THIRD EDITION


Joseph McBride









[image: ]

























To Jean Oppenheimer

























He is arguably the most influential popular artist of the twentieth century. And arguably the least understood.


– MICHAEL CRICHTON, 1995

























PROLOGUE:


“CECIL B. DESPIELBERG”







FIRELIGHTS CAPTURE EARTHLINGS IN FILM PREMIERING TUESDAY 


– HEADLINE IN THE ARIZONA REPUBLIC





A SEARCHLIGHT swept the night sky of downtown Phoenix as a limousine pulled up under the theater marquee. The director and his stars stepped out, bedazzled by the glare of strobes and exploding flashbulbs. Inside, a packed house awaited the world premiere of a science-fiction epic from American Artist Productions. For the next two hours and fifteen minutes, the audience watched enrapt at the spectacle of mysterious colored lights emerging from the heavens to abduct humans for an extraterrestrial zoo. At the night’s end, the box-office take from that screening at the Phoenix Little Theatre, at seventy-five cents a head, was enough to put the movie into profit.


The date was March 24, 1964. The movie was Firelight. Its production cost was under $600, and it was the first feature-length film written and directed by a high school junior named Steven Spielberg.


The precocious seventeen-year-old billed himself as “Steve” in the credits, not Steven, but some of his classmates mockingly called him “Spielbug.” He may have looked like a “nerd” and a “wimp” in those years, as he himself recalled, but he was already making a name for himself in Phoenix with his moviemaking. His mother proudly called him “Cecil B. DeSpielberg.” A Jewish kid who “felt like an alien” while growing up in a succession of increasingly WASPish suburbs and turned to making movies as a way of finding the social acceptance he craved, Steve Spielberg had been shooting film obsessively for more than seven years, with a monomaniacal dedication that made him virtually oblivious to schoolwork, dating, sports, and other normal adolescent pursuits.


“I was more or less a boy with a passion for a hobby that grew out of control and somewhat consumed me,” he said years later. “… I discovered something I could do, and people would be interested in it and me. I knew after my third or fourth little 8mm epic that this was going to be a career, not just a hobby.”


One of Steve’s grade-school classmates, Steve Suggs, has never forgotten the day in seventh grade when he received a phone call from a mutual friend who told him, “Spielberg’s making a movie. Do you want to be in it?” It was a World War II movie called Fighter Squad.


Steve Suggs was one of the school jocks, and he was not close to Spielberg: “I had no insights into his level of talent. He wasn’t athletic at all, nor was he necessarily a brainchild. On the surface, in the six or eight hours a day we spent in school together, he didn’t have any redeeming qualities. I didn’t know if he was going to have his Brownie out there pointing at us and have us dressing up as girls.


“I went to Spielberg’s house and got into a car; Steve’s father was driving. We went out to the airport. Somehow Steve had arranged access to a fighter and a bomber! He took a shot of me in the fighter with ketchup coming out of my mouth when I was shot. He had a script; he knew what he was doing. It wasn’t just the boys going out and screwing around—he knew how to deal with people.


“I remember telling my mom about it afterward. Here was this kid who was sort of a nerd and wasn’t one of the cool guys; he got out there and suddenly he was in charge. He became a totally different person, so much so that I as a seventh grader was impressed. He had all the football players out there, all the neat guys, and he was telling them what to do. An hour ago at home or on the campus he was the guy you kicked dirt in his eyes.


“It was miraculous. It just blew me away. It’s as if you hear this nerd play piano and suddenly he’s Van Cliburn.”




 





PEOPLE all over Phoenix soon began to pay attention to the youthful filmmaking prodigy. A local TV news crew covered the filming of Spielberg’s forty-minute World War II movie, Escape to Nowhere (completed in 1962), which won first prize in a statewide contest for amateur filmmakers. The filming of Firelight was the subject of two articles and photo spreads in The Arizona Republic, which hailed him in December 1963 as a “Teenage Cecil B.” with “an amateur but honored standing and a professional outlook.”


“We’re all for Steve’s hobby,” his mother, Leah, told the newspaper. “This way we know and the parents of his teenage friends know where they are; they’re not cruising up and down Central Avenue.”


The Army surplus jeep Leah drove around town was prominently featured in Firelight, and she sometimes slapped a helmet over her short blond hair to play a German soldier in her son’s war movies. “Our house was run like a studio,” she recalled. “We really worked hard for him. Your life was not worth a dime if you didn’t, because he nagged you like crazy. Steven had this way of directing everything. Not just his movies, his life. He directed our household…. He was a terrible student in school. But I never thought, What’s going to become of him? Maybe if it had crossed my mind, I’d have gotten worried.”


Leah was so tolerant of her son’s lack of interest in school that she often let him stay home, feigning illness, so he could edit his movies. All he had to do to convince her was “hold the thermometer to a light bulb and put the heating pad over my face”—a trick he had Henry Thomas’s Elliott play on his mother in E.T. Steve’s father, Arnold Spielberg, a pioneer in the field of computer engineering, was frustrated by his attitude toward schoolwork. “The only thing I ever did wrong,” Arnold says, “was try to coax him into being an engineer. I said, ‘Steve, you’ve gotta study math.’ He said, ‘I don’t like it.’ He’d ask me to do his chemistry for him. And he would never even do the damn chemistry lab, he would just come home and say, ‘Dad, I’ve gotta prepare this experiment.’ I’d say, ‘You don’t have any data there. How am I supposed to tell you what you’ve done?’ So I’d try to reconstruct the experiment for him, I’d come down with some answers. He’d come back and say, ‘Jesus, Dad, you flunked!’


“Leah recognized that he really wasn’t cut out for [science]. She would say, ‘Steve, I flunked chemistry two times. Don’t even try.’ After about a year, I gave up. He said, ‘I want to be a director.’ And I said, ‘Well, if you want to be a director, you’ve gotta start at the bottom, you gotta be a gofer and work your way up.’ He said, ‘No, Dad. The first picture I do, I’m going to be a director.’ And he was. That blew my mind. That takes guts.”


Arnold humored his rebellious son by bankrolling the production of Firelight. He also helped Steve design miniature sets, rigged the lights for scenes filmed in Steve’s studio (the carport of their house), and built a dolly for the elaborate tracking shots that were already a hallmark of the Spielberg visual style. Steve enlisted his three younger sisters, Anne, Sue, and Nancy, in the production as well. Anne served as a script supervisor, Nancy played the key role of a little girl abducted by aliens, and all three of them bounced up and down on the hood of the jeep inside the carport to make the jeep look like it was speeding through the desert night around Camelback Mountain.


Steve Spielberg’s ambitions were grandiose, if as yet intellectually circumscribed: he told his young collaborators during the making of Firelight, “I want to be the Cecil B. DeMille of science fiction.”


Many of his schoolmates, teachers, and neighbors thought him an “oddball” and a “nut” for being so consumed by moviemaking, but “one thing I never heard anybody associate with Spielberg was that he was blowing smoke,” recalled a high school friend, Rick Cook. “A lot of people were skeptical about his chances, but I don’t think you can find anybody who didn’t think he would give it his all.”




 





BY the time of the Firelight premiere, the teenaged Spielberg had already started the process of turning his dreams into reality. He had met a man at Universal Studios who recognized his extraordinary potential as a filmmaker, gave him advice about the making of Firelight, and eagerly awaited a chance to see the finished movie. Spielberg saw Firelight as his entrée to a career as a Hollywood director. He hoped to persuade Universal to back him in making a big-screen version of his sci-fi tale. But though Universal would sign him to a directing contract five years later, it was only after Spielberg had served an apprenticeship in television and directed what was then the biggest hit in film history, Jaws, that he was able to raise the $19 million he needed from another studio for his transmutation of Firelight—Close Encounters of the Third Kind.


After becoming a professional filmmaker, Spielberg publicly disparaged Firelight as “one of the five worst films ever made anywhere.” But his extraordinary promise was obvious to everyone who attended the Phoenix premiere in 1964. “Firelight is just as good, although this may be construed as criticism, as some of the science-fiction movies seen by the late-late television viewers,” wrote Arizona Journal reviewer Larry Jarrett. “The plot, the action, the basic material of the movie, is sound and not as far out as some of Hollywood’s fantasies-de-science.”


Allen Daviau, the cinematographer who has shot such Spielberg films as E.T. The Extra-Terrestrial, The Color Purple, and Empire of the Sun, was shown Firelight by Spielberg in the late 1960s. “It’s what you expect with a kid’s film, the acting and so on, but oh, God! Some of it was so audacious,” Daviau says. “The effects were what was really amazing—that’s what his heart was in. What he did with crumpled aluminum foil and bits of Jell-O on a kitchen table was pretty amazing.”




 





SPIELBERG’S canny flair for self-promotion, which has served him so well in his professional career, was already much in evidence in his teenage years, although then, as now, it was carefully concealed within a personality that seemed outwardly shy and modest, even deferential. People in Phoenix still speak in awestruck tones of how Spielberg talked his way into shooting scenes for Firelight at a hospital and at an airport, using an actual jet plane.


“When he was making Firelight, and he had to get into a hospital,” his father says, “he went down to the Baptist Hospital in Phoenix and talked them into letting him have a room. They lent him some oxygen tanks and stuff like that, and he put one of his actresses in a bed and put an oxygen mask on her. He did it all on his own. I didn’t help him at all. He said, ‘What do I do?’ I said, ‘Call the office and ask ’em.’ ‘Well,’ he said, ‘how do I get on an airplane?’ I said, ‘Just get down to the [Sky Harbor] airport and ask American Airlines if you can have the use of a plane for about ten minutes when it lands and before it takes off again.’ And they let him!


“I would just give him the lead and then he’d go do it. Because I figured, if I ask for him, then he’s not really doing it. He had more guts than I did, asking for things that I would say, ‘Oh, they’ll turn you down, Steve.’ Besides, he was a novelty in Phoenix, a bright young kid there, and made the newspapers. So people cottoned onto that and they were very cooperative. He had something special. Mostly he had drive. He had a will to do it.”


Betty Weber, whose daughters Beth and Jean worked on Firelight, let Steve shoot part of the film at her house. A volunteer stage manager at the nonprofit Phoenix Little Theatre, Betty cajoled the theater’s board members into donating their facilities for the premiere. She barraged the local newspapers and radio stations with announcements about the young filmmaker, arranged for photo spreads in The Arizona Republic, and made sure the title of Firelight was displayed on billboards at businesses all over town. Beth Weber, the film’s leading lady, typed and mimeographed the programs distributed to the opening-night audience. The limousine that brought Steve and his actors to the theater was supplied and driven by a cast member’s father who owned a local brewery. The searchlight was borrowed from a nearby shopping center.


Arnold Spielberg helped Steve play the complicated soundtrack for the movie, and Leah Spielberg climbed a ladder to put the title of her son’s first feature on the marquee. As she did so, she was thinking, “This is a nice hobby.”


That triumphant evening in March 1964 marked a coming of age for Steve Spielberg. His debut as a feature filmmaker was also his farewell to his boyhood years in Arizona. The day after the premiere, he and his family moved to California. He told the local press that he hoped to be working for Universal that summer before finishing high school and going to film school at UCLA.


Making movies “grows on you,” Steve declared. “You can’t shake it…. I want to write movie scripts, but I like directing above all. All I know for sure is I’ve gone too far to back out now.”



















ONE


“HOW WONDROUS ARE THY WORKS”








MY FATHER WAS SO EXCITING. I HAVE MEMORIES – COLOR MEMORIES – OF WALKING THROUGH A SNOWSTORM IN CINCINNATI. IT WAS GLISTENING, AND HE LOOKED UP AND  SAID, “HOW WONDROUS ARE THY WORKS.” HOW WONDROUS ARE THY WORKS. THIS IS WHO I AM. THIS IS WHO STEVEN IS.


– LEAH ADLER, STEVEN SPIELBERG’S MOTHER





THE child’s eyes were wide with awe as he was borne from the surrounding darkness toward the red light burning before the Ark of the Torah. Framed in a colonnaded marble arch inlaid with gold and blue, the Ark’s wooden doors were hidden by a curtain that glistened in the candlelight with an alluring, unfathomable aura of mystery. Under the domed skylight with a bronze chandelier hanging from a Star of David, the child in his stroller was pushed down the blue-carpeted aisle. From all around he could hear the chanting of elders in beards and black hats, swaying rhythmically to the Hebrew prayers. “The old men were handing me little crackers,” Steven Spielberg recalled. “My parents said later I must have been about six months old at the time.”


This was the earliest memory of the child who would grow up to make Schindler’s List. The year was 1947, and the place was the Adath Israel synagogue in Cincinnati, Ohio, across the street from the first home where Steven Spielberg lived during his peripatetic boyhood.


No other filmmaker has mined his childhood more obsessively or profitably than Spielberg, who has said that he “can always trace a movie idea back to my childhood.” Indeed, the roots of his distinctive visual style can be seen, embryonically, in those images of the synagogue: the hypnotic tracking shots mingling a sense of wonderment with fear of the unknown, the dazzling light flooding his characters’ field of vision (“God light,” he calls it), the intensely emotional employment of subjective viewpoints, and the omnipresent delight in surprising apparitions and visual magic. He always has been fascinated by “what I think is there but cannot see.” From Jaws, Close Encounters of the Third Kind, and E.T. The Extra-Terrestrial to The Color Purple, Empire of the Sun, and Schindler’s List, Spielberg has shown a rare gift for making audiences throughout the world share his own primal fears and fantasies.


He describes his favored protagonist as “Mr. Everyday Regular Fella.” That common touch is one of the keys to Spielberg’s unprecedented level of success with the mass audience. It also helps explain the disdain of elitists who fail to recognize that the ordinariness of his protagonists encompasses a wide range of archetypal human conflicts. Spielberg’s protagonist typically is either a child whose troubled life has caused him to evolve into a precocious maturity, or a childlike adult whose attempts to escape a grown-up’s responsibilities are viewed by the director with deep ambivalence. Despite the relatively limited thematic range and intellectual scope of much of his body of work so far, Spielberg, like any major popular artist, has an instinctive awareness of shared contemporary psychological concerns and an uncanny ability to express those concerns with directness and simplicity. Perhaps his greatest artistic strength is his seemingly innate ability to conjure up visual images that evoke archetypal emotions and are nonetheless complex for being nonverbal.


When asked in 1991 to select a single “master image” that sums up his work, Spielberg chose one with powerful echoes of his first childhood memory: the shot of the little boy in Close Encounters of the Third Kind opening his living-room door to see the blazing orange light from the UFO, “that beautiful but awful light, just like fire coming through the doorway. And he’s very small, and it’s a very large door, and there’s a lot of promise or danger outside that door.”




*





PROMISE or danger. Spielberg gives the words equal weight, but for many years most American critics condescendingly regarded Spielberg as a child-man fixated on the toys of moviemaking and incapable of dealing maturely with the darker side of life. Pauline Kael, who praised Close  Encounters in The New Yorker as “a kids’ movie in the best sense,” later complained, “It’s not so much what Spielberg has done, but what he has encouraged. Everyone else has imitated his fantasies, and the result is an infantilization of the culture.” Spielberg’s public statements did little to discourage such belittling assessments of his life and work. He said in 1982 that he was “still a kid…. Why? I guess because I’m probably socially irresponsible and way down deep I don’t want to look the world in the eye. Actually, I don’t mind looking the world in the eye, as long as there’s a movie camera between us.”


There was truth in that mea culpa, enough to make even his admirers uneasy about Spielberg’s potential for growth and development. Would he continue to resist the responsibilities of full maturity as a man and as a filmmaker, indulging his boyish fondness for pulp adventure (the Indiana Jones movies), infantile humor and overblown production values (1941, Hook), and special-effects fantasy extravaganzas (Poltergeist, Jurassic Park) while becoming self-consciously skittish when he ventured into mature sexual territory (The Color Purple, Always)? Would he overcome his anxieties about confronting his audience—and himself—with the kind of socially conscious, controversial subject matter he has touched upon only intermittently throughout his career?


In his annus mirabilis (1993) that saw Jurassic Park break E.T.’s world-wide box-office record by grossing nearly a billion dollars, Spielberg finally silenced many of his detractors with Schindler’s List, his masterful film version of Thomas Keneally’s book about a gentile businessman who saved eleven hundred Jews from the Holocaust. The film was hailed as “a giant bar mitzvah, a rite of passage … his cinematic initiation into emotional manhood.” Such praise was double-edged, for it implied that in his first twenty-five years as a professional filmmaker, Spielberg had never before made a serious, mature, adult film, an assumption that unfairly denigrated the best of his earlier work, from his landmark TV movie Duel to the timeless fantasies Close Encounters and E.T. and the flawed but deeply moving dramas The Color Purple and Empire of the Sun. After Spielberg started winning awards for Schindler’s List, his grade-school teacher Patricia Scott Rodney, one of the first people to encourage his filmmaking talents, commented, “I’ve heard him say, ‘Finally I’ve made a serious film.’ I recognize that as Spielberg humor.”


“The critics in awe of how much I’ve stretched just don’t know me,” Spielberg said. “This is no stretch at all. Schindler’s List is the most natural experience for me. I had to tell the story. I’ve lived on its outer edges.”


But few people, least of all Spielberg himself, questioned that Schindler’s List marked both a profound enrichment of his art and a triumphant midlife point of personal maturation. “I feel a very strong pull to go back to traditions,” he said at the time. The film was the culmination of a long personal struggle with his Jewish identity, a struggle that had helped determine his choice of a career and his orientation as a popular, mass-market filmmaker. He spoke of that struggle in interviews at the time of Schindler’s List:


“I never felt comfortable with myself,” he admitted, “because I was never part of the majority…. I felt like an alien…. I wanted to be like everybody else…. I wanted to be a gentile with the same intensity that I wanted to be a filmmaker.


“I was so ashamed of being a Jew, and now I’m filled with pride…. This film has kind of come along with me on this journey from shame to honor. My mother said to me one day, ‘I really want people to see a movie that you make someday that’s about us and about who we are, not as a people but as people.’ So this is it. This is for her.”


Spielberg’s early rejection of his Jewish roots, and his gradual return to them, was an experience he shared with many Jews in his post-World War II, post-Holocaust generation of baby boomers. He was a child of second-generation American Jews who broke away from their roots and for whom assimilation was part of the price of social acceptance and professional advancement. As a result, Spielberg, like many others in his generation, grew up questioning the relevance of his old-world heritage and the faith of his parents and grandparents.* In the white-bread culture of the Eisenhower era, Jewish baby boomers such as Spielberg became increasingly Americanized as they drifted from their cultural identity and became, in large part, a generation of outwardly assimilated but inwardly alienated suburb-dwellers. Spielberg and his movies came to typify the suburban experience, as he himself became, in Vincent Canby’s phrase, “the poet of suburbia,” a designation hardly suited to win honor with cultural elitists who scorned the middle-American ethos that suburbia had come to represent in the 1950s.


Spielberg once defined his approach to filmmaking by declaring, “I am the audience”; it was as if his own personality, through a self-abnegating act of will, had become indistinguishable from that of the majority. His prodigious popularity was a sign of how thoroughly assimilated he had become. Though his films sometimes engaged in social criticism, his refusal before Schindler’s List to assume all the responsibilities of a socially conscious filmmaker—he once called himself an “atheist” on serious subjects—was bound up with his refusal to define himself as a Jew. He was in danger of losing touch with an essential part of himself, the part that stemmed from being part of a minority.


While associating himself with Jewish charities and liberal political causes, Spielberg tended to aim for the broadest mass appeal as a filmmaker, largely avoiding Jewish subject matter and not asserting his ethnic identity as overtly as such directors as Woody Allen and Paul Mazursky. Still, Spielberg chose Richard Dreyfuss (“my alter ego”) as his protagonist in Jaws, Close  Encounters, and Always, when other directors might have cast a WASP leading man in those roles, although Spielberg did not direct attention to the characters’ ethnic backgrounds. The unleashing of the magical powers of the Ark of the Covenant to destroy its Nazi captors in Raiders of the Lost Ark reflected Spielberg’s affinities with Jewish mysticism, but in the context of a frivolously escapist storyline; after making Schindler’s List, Spielberg said he could no longer stomach the use of Nazis as figures of mere entertainment.


A more revealing exception to the rule of Spielberg’s general avoidance of specifically Jewish themes was the 1986 animated film An American Tail, on which he was an executive producer. It tells the story of a Jewish immigrant mouse named Fievel Mousekewitz, who comes to America to flee persecution (by Cossack-like-cats) at home in Russia. Fievel, whose adventures continued in An American Tail: Fievel Goes West (1991), was named by Spielberg after his beloved maternal grandfather, Philip Posner, an impoverished Russian immigrant whose Yiddish name was Fievel.




*





THE Spielberg family history reflects the archetypal Jewish-American journey of the last hundred years, from persecution in Russian cities and shtetlach (small towns) to religious freedom in the New World, and in succeeding generations from the comforts and limitations of a traditional midwestern Jewish-American community to the hazardous opportunities offered by the largely WASPish suburbs.


Spielberg’s not atypical rejection of the values of his devoutly Orthodox maternal grandparents was in large part a defense mechanism against his feeling of growing up an “alien” in a predominantly Christian society. That feeling grew increasingly stronger in him as his college-educated parents moved the family up the socioeconomic ladder from Cincinnati to Camden and Haddon Township, New Jersey, and then westward to Phoenix, Arizona, and Saratoga, California.


Like many other successful Jewish creative artists in the twentieth century, Spielberg built his career not by declaring his “otherness” but by seeking acceptance and common cultural ground with the American majority, by trying to become one of them. “I’ve always worked to be accepted by the majority,” he said in 1987. “I care about how I’m perceived—by my family, first; by my friends, second; by the public, third.”


In choosing to concentrate his youthful energies on making movies rather than paying attention to his schooling, Spielberg rebelled against the traditional Jewish reverence for education and literacy. By declaring his independence from that part of his cultural tradition—and from the middle-class values typified by his father, who despaired because of Steven’s refusal to finish college and follow in his footsteps—Spielberg was casting his lot with another kind of Jewish cultural tradition, the more disreputable but equally vital mass culture established in Hollywood by immigrant Jews of his grandparents’ generation, popular fabulists who drew much of their inspiration, and their audiences, directly from the humbler elements of the shtetl. Those early Hollywood moguls created the homogenized popular image of the American Dream. As Neal Gabler wrote in An Empire of Their Own: How the Jews Invented Hollywood, “The movie Jews were acting out what Isaiah Berlin, in a similar context, had described as ‘an over-intense admiration or indeed worship’ for the majority, a reverence that, Berlin also noted, sometimes oscillated with a latent resentment too, creating what he sympathetically called a ‘neurotic distortion of the facts.’ Hollywood became both the vehicle for and the product of their distortions.”


It was not until he became middle-aged that Steven Spielberg took the profound and irrevocable risk of redefining himself before the world by fully embracing his ethnic and religious heritage. Making Schindler’s List was an act of psychic health and integration that took him back full circle to those first memory images of the synagogue in his Cincinnati childhood. “This is truly my roots,” he declared. What finally enabled him to make Schindler’s List was his long-deferred decision eight years earlier, at the age of thirty-eight, to leave his childhood behind by accepting the responsibilities of fatherhood:


“I had to have a family first. I had to figure out what my place was in the world…. When my [first] son [Max] was born, it greatly affected me…. A spirit began to ignite in me, and I became a Jewish dad at the moment of birth and circumcision. That’s when I began to look at myself and think about my mom, my dad, what it was like growing up, what my childhood was like. I began crying at every movie. I began crying at bad television. At one point I thought I was having a bit of a breakdown. I tried to go back, seeing what I had missed, and I realized I had missed everything….


“Suddenly I’m flashing back to my childhood and remembering vividly the stories my parents and grandparents told me…. My father was a great storyteller, and my grandfather [Fievel] was amazing. I remember hearing stories from him when I was four or five and I’d be breathless, sitting on the edge of his knee. My grandfather was from Russia, and most of the stories were very indigenous of the old country.”




*





ONE of the stories Fievel told was of how he learned his lessons. As a Jew growing up in Odessa, Russia, in the late nineteenth century, Fievel was prohibited from attending secondary school by the czarist government’s numerus clausus (closed number), a quota system severely limiting the number of Jews allowed to receive a higher education. But he found a way around the edict. Steven remembered what Fievel told him: “They did allow Jews to listen through open windows to the classes, so he pretty much went to school—fall, winter, and spring—by sitting outside in driving snow, outside of open windows.”


A version of this memory made its way into An American Tail. Separated from his family after coming to New York, Fievel Mousekewitz forlornly presses his nose against a pane of glass to watch a group of little American mice attending school. Always the outsider, even in America, the strange new land of freedom, where there were supposed to be “no cats.” Though Steven Spielberg failed to acquire his grandfather’s yearning for education, he too became a storyteller, and he never forgot the image of the boy sitting outside the schoolhouse, or what it showed him about being a Jew in a hostile land.


Always convenient scapegoats during economic and political upheavals in a land of deep-seated anti-Semitism, Russian Jews in the late 1800s were subjected to increasingly frequent and brutal pogroms (the Russian word for “devastation”). In his childhood, Steven listened with fascination to his grandparents’ tales of pogroms. The social and economic liberties of Russian Jews were restricted further by laws compelling them to live only in shtetlach and barring them from most occupations except for certain forms of trade. Nearly 2 million Jews fled Russia and Eastern Europe for the United States between 1881 and 1914, “a migration comparable in modern Jewish history only to the flight from the Spanish Inquisition,” Irving Howe wrote in World of Our Fathers. America was seen “not merely as a land of milk and honey,” observed novelist Abraham Cahan, “but also, perhaps chiefly, as one of mystery, of fantastic experiences, or marvelous transformations.”


Steven Spielberg’s ancestors were part of that vast migration, settling in the hospitable midwestern city of Cincinnati, which, in the words of historian Jonathan D. Sarna, was then “the oldest and most cultured Jewish community west of the Alleghenies.” Some of his relatives remained in Russia for generations to come, and some eventually went to Israel, but many of those who did not emigrate were murdered along with the rest of their communities in the Nazi Holocaust. His father estimates they lost sixteen to twenty relatives in the Holocaust, in both Ukraine and Poland.


The original roots of the Spielberg family, Arnold Spielberg says, may have been in Austria-Hungary, where some of his ancestors, before emigrating to Russia, may have lived in an area controlled by the Duke of Spielberg. The Spielberg family name, which is German-Austrian, means “play mountain.” Spiel connotes either recreation or a stage play (cf. the English word “spiel,” meaning a recitation), and berg means mountain or hill. It is a fittingly theatrical name for a playful adult who works in show business and ever since his childhood has loved to build and film miniature mountains. A “play mountain” appears as a central plot device in Close Encounters of the Third Kind: Richard Dreyfuss obsessively constructs in his living room the image of the Wyoming mountain where, in the film’s magical finale, the alien mother ship makes its landing. A film production company Arnold and Steven Spielberg formed early on, when Steven was a college student in Long Beach, California, was called Playmount Productions.


Steven’s grandfather Shmuel Spielberg, who in America would change his name to Samuel, was born in 1873 in Kamenets-Podolsk, Russia. Once ruled by Lithuanian-Polish nobles and known in Polish as Kamieniec Podolski, it is now part of the independent state of Ukraine. In 1897, a few years before Shmuel’s departure for America, Kamenets had a population of about forty thousand, including about sixteen thousand Jews.


Most of the Jews spoke Yiddish as their principal or only language, and they lived as all Russian Jews did, in a tightly knit, insular community whose religious and cultural tradition brought comfort and mutual support in the midst of hostility. Although anti-Semitism permeated many of the city’s institutions during the reigns of Czars Alexander III and Nicholas II, the memorial book of Jewish life in Kamenets reports, “In general, relations between Jews and non-Jews in town were correct.” Even during the Ukrainian pogroms of 1881 and the widespread pogroms of 1905, there were no massacres in Kamenets, although there was some vandalism of Jewish property.


Steven’s grandfather Shmuel was the second son of a farmer, rancher, and huntsman named Meyer Spielberg and his wife, Bertha (Bessie) Sandleman, who also had three younger daughters. When Shmuel was about five years old, both his parents died in an epidemic, and he was raised by his brother, Avrom (Arnold Spielberg was given the Hebrew name Avrom in his honor). Shmuel worked on his brother’s ranch as a cowboy, rounding up cattle and horses. Jews were conscripted into the czarist army for a six-year period, and Shmuel found his way into the army band, playing the baritone, a brass wind instrument. “By staying in the band,” his son Arnold relates, “he managed to keep from getting killed or shot. And then he became a cattle buyer for the Russian army. He used to go up to Siberia and buy cattle, and he dealt with Manchuria. When the Russo-Japanese war started [in 1904], he just said, ‘I will not get back into the army again.’ He escaped to America in 1906, and then he brought my mother in 1908 [the year they married].”


Samuel (Shmuel) Spielberg’s wife, Rebecca Chechik, “Grandma Becky” to Steven’s generation, was the daughter of Nachman (Nathan) Morduhov Chechik and Reitzl (Rachel) Nigonova Hendler, who had eight other children. The Chechik family name, which is also spelled Tsetsik and means “linnet” in Russian, later was Americanized to Chase.


The Chechiks had a brewery in Sudilkov, a shtetl that no longer exists. Sudilkov was in the Kamenets area, near the larger town of Shepetovka, where some other family members lived. Arnold Spielberg relates that his grandfather Nachman Chechik “prayed and studied the Torah. His wife ran the brewery business. She was a shrewd woman. She and the children ran the business. My uncle Herschel, the oldest son, was the brewmaster. In those days, the old Jewish men, if they could get out of business and study the Torah, that’s what they did.” The brewery trade was forbidden to Jews by the Russian government in 1897, and some of Rebecca Chechik’s siblings eventually emigrated to China. They lived in the Manchurian city of Harbin and then in Shanghai’s British enclave, the setting for the opening scenes of Steven Spielberg’s World War II film Empire of the Sun.


Samuel Spielberg, Arnold’s father, worked for a few years as a grocer and a peddler in Cincinnati before he found a steady but modest living as a jobber, operating a store on West Third Street. “He’d go down to the small stores in Indiana, Kentucky, and Ohio,” Arnold explains. “He’d buy up their merchandise that they had not been able to sell. He’d buy what they called job lots, or incomplete lots. He’d bring them to his store and he’d sell them to other merchants, or to retail; he had some retail trade. And, of course, in the wholesale trade he sold to even smaller stores.”†


Arnold’s mother, Rebecca, was “a very enterprising woman. She took care of the kids and ran the house. She was interested in politics—we were Democrats from way back—and she’d read a lot, go to plays, go to concerts. She’d join all the Jewish organizations.” Mildred (Millie) Friedman Tieger, a longtime friend of Steven’s mother, remembers Rebecca as “a strong, powerful woman, very smart, and more domineering” than her husband.


In addition to their son Arnold Meyer Spielberg, who was born on February 6, 1917, Rebecca and Sam had a younger son, Irvin (called Buddy or Bud), who became an aeronautical engineer and worked on NASA’s space program, and a daughter, Natalie, who married Jacob (Jack) Guttman and with him ran a family business that manufactures cake decorations (Natalie died in 1992).




*





STEVEN’S mother’s side of the family, the Posners, originated in Poland. “Posner” means “a person from Poznań,” the name of a city and province in western Poland (also spelled Posnań or Poseń). Poznań was taken over by Prussia in the late eighteenth century, and as the late Dr. Jacob Rader Marcus, dean of American Jewish historiography, noted in a 1994 interview, “Germans despised Posners. If a German says, ‘He’s a Posner,’ it means he’s held in contempt.” But the Posner ancestors of Steven Spielberg had a more worldly background in Russia than the Spielbergs, for the Posners’ cosmopolitan hometown of Odessa, a bustling port on the Black Sea, was known as “The Paris of Russia.”


In the end, however, Jews were scarcely more welcome in Odessa than they were anywhere else in Russia. Odessa was the site of regular anti-Jewish riots, and an unusually severe pogrom occurred there in 1905, the year of the attempted revolution and the mutiny by sailors on the battleship Potemkin (later the subject of Sergei Eisenstein’s silent film classic Potemkin, which includes the famous Odessa Steps sequence). When Odessa’s Jews celebrated the czar’s promise of reforms, four hundred Jews were killed in retaliation during four days of mayhem. Such attacks—which also occurred in several other parts of Russia during 1905—were provoked by the authorities and executed by local ruffians with the help of policemen and Cossacks.


That year of turmoil was the year Philip Posner, born in Odessa in 1884, came to Cincinnati to make a new life for himself and his family, one he hoped would be safer from persecution and tyranny. He would remain devoutly Orthodox, resisting the modernizing influences of the Haskalah, the Jewish Enlightenment movement that flourished in Odessa, and the Reform movement in America. But Odessa’s cultural ferment would leave an imprint on his consciousness, despite the deficiencies of his formal education. An artist manqué, Philip Posner would pass along his artistic inclinations to his daughter and his famous grandson.


Philip’s parents, Simon Posner (son of Ezekiel Posner and Anna Fildman) and Miriam (Mary) Rasinsky (daughter of Benjamin Rasinsky), emigrated soon after him to Cincinnati, where Simon Posner, like Samuel Spielberg, became a jobber. The oldest of six children, Philip followed the same profession, selling schmatte (clothing) and other merchandise to support his wife, the former Jennie Fridman, and their two children, Leah and Bernard (Bernie).


Philip Posner was “a very emotional man,” his son-in-law Arnold Spielberg recalls. “A religious, very observant man. He used to go to the synagogue in the morning, in the evening, any time. He was at one time quite well-to-do, and then the Depression took him under, along with many other people.”


One time, Leah recalled, her family did not have enough to eat for several days until her father made ten dollars buying and selling old jewelry. He used the money to take them on a holiday. “We were poor, but there was no depression in our house.”


Philip worked mostly out of his home, and Steven loved to play in his grandfather’s attic, which was crowded with his merchandise—shoes and socks and shoelaces, belt buckles and tie clips. Norman Cummins, a fellow Jewish merchant who ran a discount clothing store, would buy Philip’s discontinued stock “as a mitzvah—a blessing,” Cummins’s wife, Edith, remembered. “Mr. Posner was a little, slight, sweet sort of man. He had a very nice, pleasant little house. I would go there with my husband, and I’d talk to Steven. He was a real skinny tyke, very lively. Who knew he was going to be this big man? He’d sit there and eat a cookie and dip it in a glass of milk. When he had finished his glass of milk, his grandmother would strain the cookie out of the milk and put the milk back. I was very impressed by that. I don’t know if it was poverty or just frugality.”


Like the violin-playing Papa Mousekewitz in An American Tail, Steven’s Grandpa Fievel poured his heart not into his business but into his music, playing the guitar and dancing ballet. Leah, who inherited her father’s love for music, felt his creativity was sidetracked by his struggle to make a living. Fievel’s brother Boris was the first known relative of Steven Spielberg to enter show business. He was a Shakespearean actor in the thriving Yiddish theater of the period; Leah remembers Boris declaiming Hamlet’s “To be or not to be” soliloquy in their living room, in Yiddish. Boris was also a vaudevillian, singing and dancing with a straw hat and a cane, and he later became a lion tamer in the circus. (In Spielberg’s 1995 animated film Balto, set in Alaska during the 1920s, there is a Russian Jewish refugee goose named Uncle Boris.)


Leah’s mother, Jennie, born in 1882, was a native Cincinnatian. She was the second oldest of ten children born to Russian émigrés Louis Fridman, who had come to the United States by way of London in 1870, and Sarah Leah Nathan. Louis Fridman’s father, a cigarmaker named Israel Fridman, was born in Poland in 1830—the earliest date of birth that can be traced for any of Steven’s ancestors—and died of emphysema in Cincinnati in 1883. Louis practiced his father’s profession for a while, but he also worked as a horse cart driver and a traveling salesman.


Steven’s Grandma Jennie was a lively, hardworking, and self-reliant “American lady,” as family friend Millie Tieger described her. “Both of [Steven’s] grandmas were more assertive than the grandpas.” Immigrant men often found that to be the case, for their traditionally dominant role in the old country tended to wither away in the face of the harsh economic realities and more liberal mores they encountered in America.


Before her marriage to Philip Posner in 1915, Jennie briefly ran a millinery shop with her sister Bertha. Jennie also majored in English at the University of Cincinnati, and Arnold Spielberg remembers her as “a very bright woman and a cultured, gentle woman.” She called everyone she liked “Dolly,” including her daughter Leah, who was born on January 12, 1920, and inherited her effervescent, outspoken personality from her mother.


Jennie “was never too domestic,” Leah admiringly recalled. Jennie worked as a milliner and clerk for a while after her marriage. Later she taught English in her home to German Jewish immigrants, many of whom were refugees from Nazism and had their tuition paid by local Jewish charities to help them acclimate to life in America and to prepare for citizenship applications. And yet the husband of this thoroughly modern American lady never lost his old-world ways.


Fievel Posner had a long white beard and wore the traditional Orthodox garb of black coat and hat. While growing up, Steven became so embarrassed by his grandfather’s appearance and frequent davening (praying) that he tried to keep his gentile friends away from the house when Grandpa Fievel came to visit. One day when Steven was eight years old and living in Haddon Township, New Jersey, he was playing football with some friends in the street, “and suddenly my grandfather, with the yarmulke, comes out of our house, two houses down, and yells: ‘Shmuel! Shmuel! [Steven’s Hebrew name]. I’m not answering him. I’m pretending I don’t know him. I’m denying that name. My friend is saying, ‘He’s looking your way. Does he mean you?’ They point at me, and I’m saying ‘No, it’s not me,’ and I’m denying the existence of my own grandfather.”
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IF not quite the “paradise for the Hebrews” extolled by a nineteenth-century Ohio historian, what the Spielbergs and Posners found in the Queen City of the West was a stolid, largely German-American burg where Jews and gentiles lived in relative harmony and prosperity.


Arnold Spielberg had only “a little” trouble with anti-Semitism when he was growing up, such as an incident when a man wearing a Ku Klux Klan insignia on his belt called him a “Jewboy.” “But my street was the best street in the world,” he nostalgically recalls. “During the wintertime, the city would block it off and we had sled riding. The street went right down into a park. We had a ballfield there. We had a woods to go play in. It was a wonderful place for a kid to grow up. You couldn’t have asked for a better place.”


Even though its Jewish population has always been modest compared to those of cities on the East Coast—Jews made up only about 5 percent, or 22,000, of Cincinnati’s 475,000 citizens when Steven Spielberg was born—Cincinnati was long regarded as “a Jewish version of the American dream,” Jonathan D. Sarna wrote in his and Nancy H. Klein’s 1989 history, The Jews of Cincinnati.


The roots of the city’s Jewish community date back as early as 1814. As the birthplace of the Reform movement, founded in the mid-nineteenth century by Rabbi Isaac Mayer Wise to liberalize and Americanize traditional Judaism, Cincinnati is home to such renowned Reform institutions as Hebrew Union College, The American Israelite newspaper, and the American Jewish Archives. Spielberg’s birthplace, the nonsectarian Jewish Hospital in Avondale, is the oldest Jewish hospital in the United States. Partly because of its strong German influence, Cincinnati has never been immune to anti-Semitism, and Sarna concludes that “in many ways, the Jewish vision of Cincinnati was simply too good to be true.” But Jews arrived early enough in Cincinnati to have won the status of pioneers, and they have long been seen as an integral part of the city’s social, political, and cultural establishment, even if they were not always as readily accepted in all parts of the business community.


Among the many hurdles Russian Jews, such as Spielberg’s grandparents, faced when they began pouring into America in the late nineteenth century was the hostility of many German Jews who had preceded them. German Jews who had settled in America viewed themselves as far more educated, more solvent, and more cultured than the hordes of newcomers seeking their help and kinship. For much of Spielberg’s grandparents’ and parents’ lives in Cincinnati, their German Jewish neighbors “held Eastern Europeans in utter contempt,” Jacob Marcus said. “The German Jews were predominant socially, culturally, and financially, but for every German Jew there were at least five or six Eastern Europeans, which included Russians, Poles, Rumanians, and Eastern Hungarians. It was only around the 1930s or the 1940s that a few individuals of Germanic origin began to marry into the families of Eastern Europeans.” In housing, too, the German Jews were “always a street ahead [of the Eastern Europeans] and ne’er the twain shall meet,” he observed. “The lines were drawn very sharply until about 1950.”


With the coming of the automobile around the turn of the century, Cincinnati, like the midwestern city of The Magnificent Ambersons, found itself “heaving up in the middle incredibly.” And as Cincinnati heaved and spread by annexing the outlying suburbs of the horse-and-buggy days, the old inner city was left a slum, occupied by Negroes and the poorest whites. Avondale, the genteel suburb of first remove for Jews leaving the West End, by the 1920s became the city’s largely Jewish enclave. It was there Spielberg’s grandparents and parents lived, where Steven was born and where he spent his first two and a half years.‡


The more fashionable streets north of Rockdale Avenue in Avondale initially were the domain of German Jews. As the WPA’s guide to the city put it, “The Orthodox Jews infiltrated the southern part of the suburb and gradually moved north, establishing a lively shopping district along Reading Road near Rockdale Avenue.” Beginning less than a block from Arnold and Leah Spielberg’s apartment at 817 Lexington Avenue, across the street from the Conservative Adath Israel synagogue on Reading Road, that district included the neighborhood movie house, the Forest Theatre. When Arnold was a boy, “Every Saturday we used to get a nickel and go to the Forest Theatre. I used to like to watch most adventure movies, all the Douglas Fairbanks movies, all the serials.”


South Avondale was a haimish—warm and unpretentious—Jewish neighborhood of extended families and landsleit—people from the old country—who all pulled together to survive. Although his grandfather Samuel Spielberg died a year before he was born, Steven grew up with an advantage few of today’s children share, that of having three grandparents living in the same neighborhood.


Leah’s parents, Philip and Jennie Posner, had rented a white frame house at 819 Glenwood Avenue since 1939, the fifth home they had lived in since their marriage. Arnold Spielberg remembers it as “a very nice home. When I was going to school at the University of Cincinnati, they lived just one block over. Leah would go over to their house, I’d come back after school, and we’d sit down and have a Sabbath lunch. Then we’d pray after lunch and sing songs. I learned all their songs.”


Sam and Rebecca Spielberg had lived in ten homes before the family settled in 1935 into half of a red-brick duplex they rented at 3560 Van Antwerp Place. “Our street was ninety-five percent Jewish,” Arnold recalls. “And all of them were successful people, doctors, dentists, or lawyers. It was very education-oriented. My brother and I were the only engineers that came out of that street. We used to brag to each other as to how religious the families were. My friends were almost all Orthodox. We were one of the few Conservative families on the street.” After Sam’s death, Rebecca continued to live there, supported by her children. Although Sam’s grandson would amass a fortune estimated by Forbes magazine in 1996 at $1 billion, Sam’s estate amounted to only $1,728.57, of which Rebecca received $1,182.15 after the costs of his final illness, burial, and probate.


By the time of Steven’s birth, many of Avondale’s old homes had been cut into duplexes or subdivided into three or four apartments, with the former maid’s quarters on the top floor often serving as the tiny apartment of an elderly or unmarried family member. After Arnold’s discharge from the U.S. Army Air Forces in September 1945, he and Leah rented their modest first-floor apartment on Lexington Avenue from Mrs. Bella Pritz, who lived upstairs with her daughter (the apartment occupied by the Spielbergs was one of two on the first floor). Though Avondale was already being vacated by German Jews, who kept moving northward into fresher and more rustic suburban acreage, it still was only “lower middle-class at worst” in those years, historian Jacob Marcus recalled. With housing growing scarcer as veterans began coming back from the war, the newlywed Spielbergs were lucky to find a decent apartment.


“It was a lovely neighborhood,” recalls their neighbor Peggie Hibbert Singerman. The houses had “big backyards, huge porches on the front, swings. They were elegant houses, with wonderful woodwork in some of them.” Many of those beautiful old homes remain well preserved today, long after the white flight of the 1950s that saw the Jewish population abandon Avondale to blacks climbing the economic ladder behind them. The house where Steven lived as a young child is still standing; it is a rental property owned by the Southern Baptist church, which in 1967 bought the Adath Israel building across the street, now a national historic landmark.




*





IN their growing restlessness with the comfortable but limiting environment of Cincinnati’s Jewish enclave, Arnold and Leah Spielberg were typical of many second-generation American Jews whose postwar ambitions for themselves and their children would lead them to turn their backs on their aging hometowns and depart for the brave new world of suburbia.


Arnold Spielberg, his sister Natalie Guttman recalled, “was always a questioning, exploring, and highly intelligent youngster whose quest for learning was and has never really been quenched.” But when Arnold was attending Avondale Grade School, he was regarded as “a nerd,” according to a schoolmate, Dr. Bernard Goldman. “He didn’t fit into the group. Other kids played ball, but he never seemed to join in that. He wasn’t a spectator. He probably had his own interests.”


From early boyhood, Arnold’s primary interests were scientific: “The earliest  influence was the son of the man who lived upstairs [in my building]. His son used to tinker around with radios. I was a little kid then, about six or seven years old, and I used to go down to the basement, watching him build stuff. Then another guy moved into the house next door—he was a radio repairman, and he gave me parts. And I was going to Avondale School one day—I’ll never forget this—I was walking up the street on Windham Avenue, and I looked in the wastebasket. There was a bunch of radio stuff. I picked up that radio stuff, ran home, and opened the door—‘Mom, don’t throw this out!’ I went to school, barely made it to class, came home—it was a crystal set that somebody had tried to fix. I just put the wires to the nearest connection and I got it to work. This was in 1927 or ’28; I was ten years old at that time.


“I’ll never forget putting the earphones on my uncle’s ears when he came over from Manchuria to America. It was the first time he ever heard a radio. The family thought I was nuts, you know, a ‘crazy-head scientist.’ I was always into magnetics and electrical stuff. Making magnets, burning up batteries, making shocking machines out of batteries from the old battery-radio sets. I used to go around to people’s houses and say, ‘Have you got any used-up batteries?’ They’d give ’em to me, I’d get some power out of ’em, connect ’em all in series, make sparks. Typical kid stuff.”


Arnie and his brother Buddy, who was only a year younger, shared the same hobby. “They were into electrocuting rats in the attic,” their nephew, Samuel Guttman, relates. “Arnold was a ham operator [from the age of fifteen], and somehow he had an antenna system that ruined the radio reception in the neighborhood. The two terrorized the neighborhood. My mother once got so crazy she threw a punch at ’em through a glass door.” Arnold “was remarkably intelligent in school, and he would fool around at home—he did all kinds of smart scientific things,” recalls family friend Millie Tieger. “He built a television set in the 1930s, before anybody else did, before anybody knew what a television was. Everybody said, ‘Arnold, what are you doing?’”


Some of Arnold’s visionary qualities can be attributed to his avid interest in reading science fiction, a habit he later passed on to his son. “I’ve been reading science fiction since I was seven years old, all the way back to the earliest Amazing Stories,” Arnold says. “Amazing, Astounding, Analog—I still subscribe. I still read ’em. My kids used to complain, ‘Dad’s in the bathroom with a science-fiction magazine. We can’t get in.’”


Sam and Becky Spielberg, who spoke mostly Russian around the house, were struggling to make ends meet during the Depression, and they could not afford to send Arnold and Buddy to college. After his graduation in 1934 from Hughes High School, Arnold barely missed out on a college scholarship and had to take a job far beneath his potential, working as a clerk in a chain of small-town department stores across the river in Kentucky, run by his mother’s relatives, the Lerman brothers.


Before becoming a store manager for the Lermans, Arnold worked as an assistant manager in Cynthiana, Kentucky, for his older cousin Max Chase, a nephew of Rebecca Spielberg. Starting the process that eventually would make Arnold’s son Steven into a filmmaker, Max gave Arnold his first movie camera during the early 1930s. “I started taking home movies when I lived in Kentucky,” Arnold recalls. “My cousin bought one of the earliest 8mm movie cameras. He didn’t know how to use it, so he said, ‘Here, you use it.’ I was about seventeen years old when I started doing that. I used to take a lot of junk movies, you know what I mean? Family and stuff like that. But no class. Just pictures.”§


Arnold continued to work for the Lermans until the coming of World War II. He enlisted in the U. S. Army Signal Corps in January 1942, but was soon transferred into the Army Air Forces. After serving as an airplane-parts shipping clerk in Karachi, Pakistan, he parlayed his ham-radio experience into a post as a radio operator. Stationed first in Karachi and then outside Calcutta, in the China-Burma-India theater of operations, he was part of a B-25 bomber squadron that destroyed Japanese railroad lines, shipping, and communications in Burma, earning them the nickname of “The Burma Bridge Busters.” Arnold recalls that although he “flew a couple of missions,” he spent most of the war running the squadron’s communications room: “At first I signed on to be a radio gunner, but they said, ‘No, if you know how to fix radios, you’re better off on the ground.’ They wouldn’t let me fly anymore.” He was rotated back to the United States in December 1944, serving out the rest of the war at Wright Field in Dayton, Ohio.


The country’s shared sacrifices and its victory over fascism, coupled with the eventual discovery of the full dimensions of the Holocaust, contributed to the postwar advancement of social acceptance and economic opportunities for American Jews. The Cold War climate of fierce American competitiveness with the Soviet Union also helped open doors in higher education, science, and business during the postwar years, while helping make Christians somewhat more tolerant in their social interactions with Jews, or at least less overt about their anti-Semitism.


The most immediate and far-reaching benefit of wartime service for Arnold Spielberg was the GI Bill of Rights, which finally enabled him, like 2.2 million other American veterans, to attend college. The GI Bill gave veterans what one of them called “a ticket of admission to a better life.”


It was that for Arnold Spielberg, making it possible for the former department store manager to earn a degree in electronic engineering from the University of Cincinnati in June 1949 and launching him on what would turn out to be a highly successful career in computer engineering. Arnold remembers that just before his father died, he was “so proud” to see his son enter college.


“Arnold blossomed in an academic setting,” family friend Millie Tieger observed. “Arnold was such a turn-around person. He married Leah and she encouraged him to go to college. She pushed him. She was already a graduate of the University of Cincinnati; she was a smart girl, talented, very outgoing. I think she wanted Arnold also to have a good education. He turned out to be a brain, absolutely brilliant, a pioneer in computers. When Arnold was working in New Jersey, doing early computer research, he used to come to Cincinnati, and he would sit down at our kitchen table and calculate numbers to the thirteenth power. I had no idea what he was talking about. I would say, ‘Shut up, Arnold.’”
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WHEN Steven Spielberg’s mother attended Walnut Hills High School, the college preparatory school for Cincinnati public school students, she was “kinda mousy. So was I,” recalls fellow student Edith Cummins. “We weren’t the prom queen types. She was very plain.” “I was different-looking,” Leah told Fred A. Bernstein, author of The Jewish Mothers’ Hall of Fame. “But I never wanted to change. If I had had a tiny pug nose, maybe I wouldn’t have had to develop a personality. But instead, I learned to play piano. I was somebody. I loved my life, and I believed in me.”


“She was so different from the Spielbergs,” notes Millie Tieger. “She had a sparkle. They were all bigger, dark, and here is this under-five-foot young lady, blond, her eyes flash, she talks like this [moves her head and eyes rapidly as she talks]. Arnold was super-smart and accomplished, but I think Leah had a more all-encompassing ‘people’ personality. She’s a very insightful creature.”


Leah started dating Arnold Spielberg in 1939. Arnold attended high school with Leah’s brother, Bernie. “We all played tennis together,” Arnold’s sister Natalie recounted. “Leah was going with somebody else at the time, but when she broke up with her boyfriend I introduced her to Arnold because I thought that would be a good match.”


During the early 1940s, Leah pursued her musical ambitions as a student at the renowned Cincinnati Conservatory of Music, affiliated with the University of Cincinnati. She planned a career as a concert pianist and did some public performing, much to the pride and delight of her family. Leah was “a very talented concert pianist,” Arnold says. “She contributed a lot of artistic talent to Steven.”


Leah, a home economics major in college, was graduated and took a job as a social worker for the Travelers Aid Society at the city’s Union Terminal. She married Arnold in South Avondale’s Adath Israel synagogue on February 25, 1945, while he was still in active service at Wright Field. Joining him in Dayton, Leah worked for the local social services department. After his discharge later that year and their return to Cincinnati, Leah helped administer electrocardiograms for a few months at the Jewish Hospital, but quit that job shortly before Steven was born at the same hospital. With her own artistic career sidetracked by the demands of raising a family, she passed on her artistic ambitions to her son, but never stopped playing the piano.


“The first piece of furniture we got when we were married was a piano,” Arnold says. “We borrowed a bed, and we bought a Baldwin spinet.” Arnold, who took piano lessons as a boy, was always an avid music listener. “We had a big collection of classical records,” he recalls. “We had classical music playing in the house all the time, way back, early on.” While pregnant with Steven, Leah spent much of her time playing classical pieces on her piano, and when he was an infant in diapers, he would sit on her lap on the piano bench, listening and learning to tap out the music. Sometimes Arnold also got into the act: “I knew enough to know the notes, so when she’d play, I’d turn the pages.”


Sometimes the music would affect Steven in unexpected ways. “Steven always had a highly developed imagination,” said Leah. “He was afraid of everything. When he was little he would insist that I lift the top of the [piano] so he could see the strings while I played. Then he would fall on the floor, screaming in fear.” But Millie Tieger, who remembers watching him as a small child sitting at the piano with his mother, suggests that the early influence of Leah’s music is “the key to the understanding” of his creative development: “What went into Steve when he heard his mother play music so beautifully?”


Like fellow Wunderkind director Orson Welles, whose father was an inventor and whose mother was a concert pianist, Spielberg acquired his dazzling blend of artistic talents from a synthesis of his parents’ disparate abilities. He once said he is the product of “genetic overload.” His father describes Steven’s personality as “a lucky piece of synergy,” explaining that Steven’s mother is “a very musically creative person, she’s a good dancer. And she’s a zany type. I’m a little more grounded. But I also like creative things. I was a great storyteller. I love science fiction.”


Arnold’s pioneering creativity within his own field of computers has brought him several patents. When Steven was an infant, his father would put him to sleep by the imaginative means of using an oscilloscope to reflect wavy lines on the wall. Though Steven showed no interest in following his father into engineering, he picked up his interest in filmmaking from his father. Steven’s fascination with all kinds of cutting-edge technology and his mastery of the tools of filmmaking have been evident from the earliest days of his professional career.


The influence of music is also strongly evident in Spielberg’s career. He played the clarinet (though not very well) in his grade school and high school bands, and sat in as first clarinet for composer John Williams in the beach scene of Jaws. He still noodles on the instrument for pleasure and relaxation. He has been a passionate collector of movie scores since childhood, and has said, “If I weren’t a filmmaker I’d probably be in music. I’d play piano or I’d compose. I’d probably be a starving composer somewhere in Hollywood right now, hopefully not starving, but I probably would not have been successful.”


In the view of Williams, who has written the scores for most of Spielberg’s films, he is being overly modest about his musical sense: “Steven could have been a composer himself. He has that rhythmic sense in his whole being, and I think that is one of the great things about his directing—this rhythmic, kinetic sense he has.”


Through his parents, Spielberg inherited his love of music from Grandpa Shmuel, who performed in the Russian army band, and from Grandpa Fievel, the Russian immigrant Jew who was not allowed to go to school but used his music to proclaim “How wondrous are Thy works.”


Perhaps the most joyous scene in all of Spielberg’s movies is the ending of Close Encounters of the Third Kind, in which the scientists finally devise a way of communicating with the alien mother ship by using their computers to play synthesized music together. The musical interchange between the humans and their extraterrestrial visitors starts as a few tentative notes and quickly becomes a rapturous duet of spiritual celebration.


“When I saw Close Encounters,” Millie Tieger recalls, “I thought, There’s Leah with the music and Arnold with computers. That’s Steve, the little boy. Steve wrote a movie about Mommy and Daddy.”






* While Spielberg’s maternal grandparents were Orthodox, his mother kept kosher only intermittently and his family attended Conservative synagogues.







† Steven Allan Spielberg’s Hebrew name, Shmuel, is a tribute to his grandfather, who died before he was born. Asked why Steven was not given the first name of Samuel, Arnold says, “We gave him an Anglicized ‘Steven.’ We just artificially made it that. Leah and I wanted to give him a non-Biblical name. ‘Allan’ came from the Hebrew Aharon. And we just liked the name Allan, out of nowhere.”







‡ Spielberg announced in 1989 that he planned to make a movie dealing with his childhood years in Cincinnati, from a script by his sister Anne, I’ll Be Home. The movie would have to be shot on location, he said, because “there’s nothing in L.A. that looks like Cincinnati—nothing.”







§ Arnold is still shooting home movies today, mostly of his travels, using a Sony High-8 video camera and a professional-quality Avid editing system his son gave him. In his current occupation as an electronics industry consultant, Arnold also has been making industrial films: “Ever since I retired, they say to me, ‘With the name Spielberg, you’ve got to be able to make movies.’ So they got me making movies.”

























TWO


“MAZIK”







WE HAVE A WORD FOR HIM IN YIDDISH. WE’D CALL HIM A MAZIK – IT’S SAID LOVINGLY, YOU KNOW, BUT IT MEANS A MISCHIEVOUS LITTLE DEVIL. AND HE WAS THAT!


– STEVEN SPIELBERG’S AUNT NATALIE GUTTMAN





STEVEN Allan Spielberg’s birth certificate shows that he was born at Cincinnati’s Jewish Hospital at 6:16 P.M. on December 18, 1946—not December 18, 1947, as has often been reported.


Just why Spielberg has felt it expedient to appear a year younger than his true age throughout most of his Hollywood career became a matter of controversy in 1995, when the issue provoked an exchange of lawsuits between Spielberg and one of his former producers, Denis C. Hoffman. But the truth about his age was not entirely unknown over the years. In 1981, when Patricia Goldstone, a freelance feature writer for the Los Angeles Times, discovered college records indicating that Spielberg actually was born in 1946, the director “would not comment,” she reported. Spielberg’s incorrect age and birthdate have been given in innumerable articles and several books, although all that was necessary to resolve the question was a request to the Cincinnati Board of Health for his Ohio Department of Health birth certificate. Prior to 1995, the only book on Spielberg or his work that reported his age correctly was Outrageous Conduct: Art, Ego, and the “Twilight Zone” Case (1988) by Stephen Farber and Marc Green, which cited Goldstone’s article, commenting, “Almost everyone in Hollywood lies about his age; but Spielberg, with a premature vision of the legend he wanted to build, may have started fudging earlier than anyone else.”


Spielberg’s birth notice appeared in the December 26, 1946, issue of The American Israelite, a national Jewish newspaper published in his home town of Cincinnati: “Mr. and Mrs. Arnold Spielberg (Leah Posner), 817 Lexington Avenue, son, Wednesday, Dec. 18th.” Before he moved to California, Spielberg’s age was reported accurately when his filmmaking activities were written up in the Phoenix papers. The Phoenix Jewish News reported on December 25, 1959, that his bar mitzvah (the ceremony that takes place when a Jewish boy turns thirteen) would be held the following January 9 at Beth Hebrew Congregation. Spielberg’s true birthdate also appears in the records of the high schools he attended in Phoenix and in Saratoga, California, as well as in the records of California State College (now California State University) at Long Beach. But after Spielberg began making his first inroads into Hollywood, his attitude toward his past history became more creative, and as a result the chronology of his early career has become a self-generated tangle of confusion.


On October 26, 1995, in response to questions prompted by Hoffman’s lawsuit, Spielberg’s attorney Marshall Grossman and his spokesman, Marvin Levy, acknowledged to the Los Angeles Times that “the director was born in 1946, and that any references to 1947 are incorrect,” the paper reported. “But they both refused to explain why Spielberg never corrected it, or why he lists it incorrectly in documents such as his driver’s license.” Grossman told the paper, “I’m sure there’s an answer. Maybe he didn’t care what people said about his age. He cares about one thing: making films.”




*





COULD Spielberg, as Farber and Green suggested, simply have been lying about his age all those years in order to make himself seem even more of a wunderkind than he really was? Or was there another reason for his obfuscation, one that, as Hoffman alleged, involved “a deliberate and outrageous lie perpetrated by defendant Spielberg in a calculated and malicious scheme to avoid his legal obligations”?


Spielberg was a genuine novelty when he arrived in Hollywood. The movie industry at that time “was still a middle-aged man’s profession,” he has recalled. “The only young people on the [Universal] lot were actors. It was just the beginning of the youth renaissance.” Spielberg already had learned some valuable lessons about publicity during his teenage years, when he was hailed as a youthful filmmaking prodigy in Phoenix. So he was acutely conscious of the novelty of his age in Hollywood and the potential advantages of exploiting his precocity in the press.


One of the first contacts he made in Hollywood was Charles A. (Chuck) Silvers, Universal Pictures’ film librarian, who became his earliest mentor in the film industry. Silvers remembers Spielberg telling him, “The only thing I want to do is direct before I’m twenty-one.” Spielberg did manage to direct an independent short film called Amblin’ in the summer of 1968, several months after his twenty-first birthday. Amblin’ was what brought Spielberg to the attention of Sid Sheinberg, then vice president of production for Universal TV, who offered Spielberg a directing contract in the fall of 1968. As Sheinberg has recalled their first conversation, Spielberg told him, “I just have one request and I’d like you to give me not so much a commitment, Mr. Sheinberg, but a promise. I want to direct something before I’m twenty-one. That would be very important to me.”


Sheinberg, who may not have been entirely clear about Spielberg’s actual birthdate, promised that would happen. Spielberg’s age was given as twenty-one when Universal announced his signing in the Hollywood trade papers on December 12, 1968. That was indeed recognized as newsworthy, for as The Hollywood Reporter put it, “Spielberg, 21, is believed the youngest filmmaker ever pacted by a major studio.” But the trades didn’t realize that Spielberg would turn twenty-two only six days later. Spielberg’s first television assignment, a segment of the three-part TV movie Night Gallery, went before the cameras in February 1969. So in spite of his discussion with Sheinberg at the time he was hired, Spielberg did not direct anything for Universal until he was twenty-two, a fact that in later years has not stopped him from making frequent claims to the contrary, such as his 1991 comment to Premiere magazine that “I got my contract at age twenty to be at Universal for seven years.”


When Spielberg was interviewed by The Hollywood Reporter during the first day of shooting on Night Gallery, his age was accurately emblazoned in the headline 22-YEAR-OLD TYRO DIRECTS JOAN CRAWFORD. Spielberg also told the truth about his age to a rabbi who interviewed him for a Jewish newspaper in November 1970, when he was twenty-three, but shortly after that the history of his life began to undergo rewrites.


By December 28, 1970, ten days after his twenty-fourth birthday, a year had been subtracted from Spielberg’s age in Hollywood press coverage: he was still twenty-three when Universal announced it was extending his contract. And when the Reporter talked with Spielberg again the following April, the “23-year-old” filmmaker was quoted as saying he had first set foot on the Universal lot “one day in 1969, when I was 21.” The story changed again the following year, when a profile in TV Guide stated that Spielberg arrived at Universal “[i]n 1968, just before his 20th birthday.” In subsequent interviews, Spielberg gradually began moving the date of his arrival farther and farther back, giving it as 1967, 1966, 1965, and the summer of 1964. At least he was getting closer to the truth in that respect, for it actually was in late 1963 or early 1964 when Spielberg made his first visit to Universal and met Chuck Silvers. Spielberg was then only sixteen or seventeen years old and still a high school student.*


It’s understandable that people could have been confused about how old Spielberg was when he started in Hollywood, for apart from his precocious knowledge of filmmaking, Spielberg appeared “very young for his age in all other respects” when Silvers first met him. “Physically he was very young—thin, slight—he looked a couple or three years younger than he was.”
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DENIS Hoffman, who owned a Hollywood optical and title company, produced and financed the making of Amblin’ in the summer and fall of 1968. Spielberg’s first completed 35mm film was a slickly made short whose professionalism made it an impressive calling card for the young director. Hoffman paid Spielberg no salary for making the film, and in exchange for his investment, the producer acquired an option on Spielberg’s services.


On September 28, 1968, Spielberg signed an agreement with Hoffman reading in its entirety:




To recompense for financing my story to be made into a short film I agree to direct one feature film for DENIS C. HOFFMAN sometime during the next ten years.


I will be paid $25,000 plus 5% of the profit after all expenses.


I will direct any script of DENIS HOFFMAN’S selection and I will perform my services for him anytime during the next ten years at his choosing unless I am involved in a project. In which case I will make myself available to him immediately following said project.





Although Amblin’ won Spielberg his seven-year contract with Universal that December, Hoffman’s plans to produce another film went nowhere. Hoffman claimed in his 1995 lawsuit that he tried unsuccessfully for the next few years to get Spielberg to commit to a project. When Jaws became a blockbuster hit in June 1975, making Spielberg the hottest director in Hollywood, Hoffman pressed Spielberg to comply with their agreement. According to the suit, Spielberg surprised him that July by asserting that the agreement was unenforceable. Spielberg and his attorney, Bruce Ramer, allegedly claimed that at the time he signed the agreement, he was only twenty years old and, as a minor, unable to enter into a contract under California law. Believing Spielberg’s assertion that he was born on December 18, 1947, Hoffman, on January 3, 1977, accepted a $30,000 buyout offer from Spielberg for all rights to Amblin’, including the right to use the title of the film for the name of his production company. As early as July 1975, Spielberg formed a company called Amblin’, but for unexplained reasons, his Amblin Entertainment, founded in 1984, never included the apostrophe in its name.


After obtaining a copy of Spielberg’s birth certificate in 1994, Hoffman renewed his claim to an option on Spielberg’s services.† Discussions with Spielberg’s attorneys failed to produce a settlement, and Spielberg filed a preemptive lawsuit against Hoffman in Los Angeles County Superior Court on October 24, 1995. Spielberg’s suit made no specific reference to the age issue but said Hoffman had demanded $33 million “based on specious claims that the 1977 Buy-Out Agreement had been procured by Spielberg through fraud. Spielberg refused to yield to these baseless claims and prefers that they be litigated in a court of law.” Hoffman filed his suit the following day, charging Spielberg with “fraud and deceit” and seeking damages for the “many millions of dollars” a producing credit on a Spielberg feature might have been worth to his career. Although Hoffman claimed he had offered Spielberg several scripts to direct, Spielberg not only denied that but also alleged that when approached by Hoffman with the buy-out offer, he “offered to try to obtain a producer’s position for Hoffman on one of Spielberg’s next films. Hoffman declined that offer and responded that he did not want and was not equipped to be a producer and that he wanted the $30,000 instead.”


The controversy provoked head-shaking surprise in the media, which had been fooled for so many years by Spielberg’s false story about his age. Even the Los Angeles Times, which seemed to have no institutional memory that Patricia Goldstone had revealed the truth in its pages in 1981, called the age issue the “strangest twist in the case.”
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“I TOLD Steve, if I’d known how famous he was going to be, I’d have had my uterus bronzed,” his mother quipped in 1994.


Steven Allan Spielberg arrived at the end of the first year of the greatest baby boom in the nation’s history. Millions of returning GIs and their young brides were making up for lost time, starting families during 1946. As the first-born child and only son of Arnold and Leah Spielberg, and as the first grandchild born on either side of the family, Steven “was very loved,” Millie Tieger remembered. “Everybody was so thrilled with him, this first grandchild. He was a smart little kid, very talkative, a lot of fun, and cute-looking, with bangs, a camel-hair coat with leggings, and a little hat.”


“From the time he was able to open his mouth his first word, I think, was ‘Why?,’” his aunt Natalie Guttman said. “He’d see a shadow on the wall and want to know why it was there…. I used to baby-sit for him, and I can tell you, he was something. You just had to answer every question, and then there would be more. Most of what I remember is Steve’s curiosity and inquirious [sic] nature. He was just curiouser and curiouser … like his father, like Leah, really like the whole family. Steven comes by his genius honestly, I have to tell you. It’s in the genes.”


Photographs from the period, and Arnold Spielberg’s home movies, show Steven as an elfin creature with a huge cranium, protuberant ears, pale white skin, a nimbus of soft blondish-brown hair, and wide, quizzical eyes. The child’s expression is penetrating, amused, and serenely confident. It’s hard to escape the feeling that there is something otherworldly about Steven’s appearance in his early childhood pictures. With his oversized head and eyes and his spindly body, he looks more than a bit like E.T., whom Spielberg once described as “a creature only a mother could love.”


“When he was growing up, I didn’t know he was a genius,” Steven’s own mother later admitted. “Frankly, I didn’t know what the hell he was. You see, Steven wasn’t exactly cuddly. What he was was scary. When Steven woke up from a nap, I shook. My mother always used to say, ‘The world is going to hear of this boy.’ I used to think she said it so I wouldn’t kill him…. His badness was so original that there weren’t even books to tell you what to do….


“He was my first, so I didn’t know that everybody didn’t have kids like him…. If I had known better, I would have taken him to a psychiatrist, and there never would have been an E.T.
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WHEN asked what Steven was like as a child growing up on Lexington Avenue in the Cincinnati neighborhood of Avondale, a next-door neighbor, Roslyn Mitman, replied in one word: “Different.”


Mrs. Mitman, who had two daughters several years older than Steven, explained, “There were times when I really wasn’t all that happy my children played with him. I remember one incident. We all had pressure cookers, and they would very often explode. When his mother’s pressure cooker exploded and food hit the ceiling and messed up their entire kitchen, he thought it was wonderful.”


Steven’s anarchic sense of humor wasn’t all that bothered Mrs. Mitman about the incident. She also found it troubling that Leah didn’t scold him. An exploding pressure cooker “wouldn’t have upset Leah,” she commented disdainfully. “It would have upset me—I would have killed my kids.”


From that conventional perspective, Steven did indeed seem hopelessly spoiled by his equally eccentric mother. “I’m certifiable, dolly,” Leah joked to an interviewer in 1994. “If I weren’t so famous, they’d put me away.” Leah seemed to have an unusually strong sense of identification with her son, finding him endlessly amusing and encouraging his rebellious, creative nature. It seems clear in retrospect that she was transferring to him her own abandoned hopes for an artistic career. People who knew both families commented that little Steven even looked more like a Posner than a Spielberg, more like his short, slender, blond mother than like his tall, stocky, dark-haired father. And if Steven increasingly showed the signs of being a special child, Leah also was generally recognized as a special mother, though the virtues of her tolerance seem clearer in retrospect than they may have to most people at the time.


Asked to describe Steven as a small child, his father says, “Precocious. Energetic. Curious. Wanting to get into everything. Wanting to ask questions about things. When he was still in a little go-car, he’d go to the store and he’d want to stop and look in the window. He was a very precocious kid in terms of wanting to fill his brain. He learned quickly. He spoke easily and early. He was into asking questions relating to fire engines, relating to things that get destroyed.”


Rabbi Fishel Goldfeder of Adath Israel offered Leah some advice on how to deal with her unusual son. One day, Millie Tieger remembered, the rabbi “saw Steve throwing a fit because he wanted some toy, maybe it was a fire truck. He raised a big fuss. The rabbi said to Leah, ‘Buy it for him, you’re going to buy it for him anyway.’”


Leah took the rabbi’s advice to heart. “Nobody ever said no to Steven,” she admitted many years later. “He always gets what he wants, anyway, so the name of the game is to save your strength and say yes early.” Asked how she influenced her son’s development, she replied, “I gave him freedom. Steven and I happen to be very much alike. Our nervous systems, everything…. And everything Steven wanted to do, he did. We lived very spur of the moment; there was no structure. He has an amazing talent—this cannot be denied—but he also had the freedom to express it.”
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WHEN Steven was a toddler, his father was earning his degree at the University of Cincinnati and “studying all the time,” Millie Tieger recalled. Arnold’s absorption in his studies and, later, in his electronics career reflected his determination to make something of himself after his unpromising prewar beginnings. But it also made Steven view him as emotionally distant.


“I always felt my father put his work before me,” Steven has said. “I always thought he loved me less than his work and I suffered as a result…. My dad was of that World War II ethic. He brought home the bacon, and my mom cooked it, and we ate it. I went to my dad with things, but he was always analytical. I was more passionate in my approach to any question, and so we always clashed. I was yearning for drama.”


Still, Steven acquired what he called his father’s “workaholic” personality, along with such traits as his love of storytelling and his fascination with high technology (somewhat ambivalent in Steven’s case). Steven’s tendency to withdraw into his own world—so different from his mother’s extroverted exuberance—also is a legacy from his father. “Steven’s father was an intellectual,” recalls Rabbi Albert Lewis, who headed the temple to which the Spielbergs later belonged in New Jersey. “Like Steven, he was sort of an introverted person.” When asked about the period just before his marriage broke up in the 1960s, Arnold Spielberg said, “Whenever things hit me with stress like that, I plunge deeper into work, to compensate.”


If his father often seemed an aloof, even forbidding figure to Steven as a child, his mother at times may have seemed too much the opposite, too flighty and childlike. “We’re all for immaturity in my family,” Leah once said. “The rule at home was, ‘Just don’t be an adult.’ Who needs to be anything but ten?” “We never grew up at home, because she never grew up,” Steven commented.
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THE combination of indulgence and emotional isolation Steven experienced in his childhood may have helped delay his own maturation process by allowing him to grow up as the privileged ruler of a narcissistic fantasy world. His mother often read him J. M. Barrie’s Peter Pan as a bedtime story, “one of the happiest memories I have from my childhood. When I was eleven years old I actually directed the story during a school production.” Doubtless he was mightily impressed by Peter’s defiant declaration to Mrs. Darling, “I don’t want to go to school and learn solemn things. No one is going to catch me, lady, and make me a man. I want always to be a little boy and to have fun.” As Spielberg admitted in 1985, “I have always felt like Peter Pan. I still feel like Peter Pan. It has been very hard for me to grow up…. I’m a victim of the Peter Pan Syndrome.” The issue of whether Spielberg would ever “grow up”—both as a man and as a filmmaker—was much worried over by critics and other members of the press as he reached middle age.


Dr. Dan Kiley’s popular 1983 book, The Peter Pan Syndrome: Men Who Have Never Grown Up, was strongly influenced by feminist analyses of the problem of delayed maturation in baby boomer males. Men who suffer from the syndrome, writes Kiley, perpetuate adolescent modes of behavior because of a “poor adjustment to reality” in their interpersonal relationships, such as an avoidance of commitment and a compulsion to find self-acceptance by seeking the approval of others. Such men are typically the product of a permissive upbringing by parents who “nurture the development of irresponsibility … in which the child believes that rules don’t apply to him.” From childhood onward, sufferers from the syndrome “are filled with anxiety. Early in life, tension begins to pervade the atmosphere of the home. It grows every year…. The cause of this free-floating anxiety is parental unhappiness.”


Spielberg, who still bites his nails to the quick, “combines an incredible security with an incredible insecurity…. I wouldn’t have known it, but he says he comes to work every day wanting to vomit,” reported Dustin Hoffman, who played the title role in Hook, Spielberg’s 1991 contemporary gloss on Peter Pan. Spielberg dealt directly with the damaging effects of the Peter Pan Syndrome in that uneven but autobiographically very revealing film, with Robin Williams playing Peter as an anxious middle-aged yuppie workaholic who emotionally neglects his own son, making him hostile and rebellious while driving him into the clutches of Captain Hook, the child-hating surrogate father.


In a penetrating 1991 essay on Spielberg’s work, Henry Sheehan wrote, “[I]n fragments, that story is the story of nearly every Spielberg film…. Although Spielberg’s films are usually described as warm or even exhilarating and euphoric, their most prevalent temper is anxiety. Every Spielberg hero from Duel onward is, to one extent or another, worried that he is failing at some essentially male role, either lover or father. In Hook these twin fears are merged in Peter, who is plainly a poor father and who, less conspicuously, wants to retreat from the issue of sex in general.”


Those prone to the Peter Pan Syndrome and all its attendant anxieties also tend to share some positive attributes, Kiley reminds us, and they are attributes Spielberg has had in abundance since childhood: “a rich imagination and a yearning to stay young at heart. Cannot these traits be portals to brilliance and serenity?” However stunting Spielberg’s upbringing may have proved to his emotional growth, it allowed him the psychological license to explore his creativity with a rare degree of boldness and self-confidence. A “poor adjustment to reality” is not necessarily a handicap for a filmmaker, particularly one who often works in fantasy genres as Spielberg does, although it would help account for his frequent difficulties working himself up to dealing with adult subjects.
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SPIELBERG grew up hearing his parents talking about “the murdering Nazis” and hearing stories from his “verbal grandparents who constantly spoke about” the extermination of the Jews. Since the Nazis’ rise to power, European Jews had found refuge in the close-knit community of Cincinnati’s Avondale, and there were many Holocaust survivors living in the neighborhood. In the English classes taught four times a day by Steven’s grandmother, Jennie Posner, for eight or ten students gathered around the dining room table at her home on Glenwood Avenue, survivors told stories of what they referred to as “The Great Murder.”


Steven would visit with his mother when the lessons were in progress, and he learned his numbers from one of Jennie’s pupils. The man showed Steven the tattoo that had been burned into his arm at Auschwitz for identification. As Steven remembered, “He would roll up his sleeves and say, ‘This is a four, this is a seven, this is a two.’ It was my first concept of numbers. He would always say, ‘I have a magic trick.’ He pointed to a six. And then he crooked his elbow and said, ‘Now it’s a nine.’”


“Every person there had a history, either their own or about their family or someone they knew,” recalled Leah, who often repeated stories she heard to Steven. “Some of the stories were so horrible that there was almost a movie-like quality to them. It was hard to imagine terrible things like that actually happening. It brought the Holocaust close to home, because you were talking to people who had lived through these unimaginable things….


“I remember one woman’s story. The Nazis wanted her ring. She couldn’t get it off. They were about to cut her finger off, but the ring suddenly fell off on its own. I guess it was her panic. It just freaked me. I’m sure it affected Steven…. Who knows how much our children absorb when they’re very young? Perhaps more than we imagine.”


“In a strange way my life has always come back to images surrounding the Holocaust,” Steven agreed in 1993. “The Holocaust had been part of my life, just based on what my parents would say at the dinner table. We lost cousins, aunts, uncles. When I was very young, I remember my mother telling me about a friend of hers in Germany, a pianist who played a symphony that wasn’t permitted, and the Germans came up on stage and broke every finger on her hands. I grew up with stories of Nazis breaking the fingers of Jews.”
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MOVING from the traditional Jewish neighborhood of Avondale and choosing to raise her children largely among gentiles was “my one really big mistake,” Leah once said, recalling the incidents of overt anti-Semitism that Steven began to encounter while growing up in mostly WASP suburbia. Although it was Arnold’s career path that primarily motivated the family’s movements around the country, Leah took responsibility for the fact that from 1950 onward, the family lived in neighborhoods that were progressively less and less Jewish. “I didn’t want to be part of any community or deal with any labels,” she explained. “I’ve never been very comfortable traveling in a pack.”‡


But the Spielbergs’ living situation was never as simple or clear-cut as either Steven or his mother remembers. They had gentile neighbors in Avondale, some of whom looked upon them with barely repressed hostility, and they were not entirely lacking for the company of Jewish neighbors and friends in New Jersey, Arizona, and California. The distinctions among their living places were subtle, and helped shape Steven’s evolving personality.
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LIVING in a Jewish neighborhood such as Avondale could be fraught with nightmarish images for a small child in the immediate postwar years, but Steven did have the advantage of starting life in an insular, cocoonlike setting that shielded him from many of the harsher realities outside his middle-class ghetto. Relations between Jews and their minority of gentile neighbors were outwardly polite, but not without submerged tension.


“Being we weren’t Jewish, we didn’t know the people,” admits Anastasia Del Favero, an Italian-American Catholic with three children who lived next door to the Spielbergs. “They were nice people, mostly all Jewish, but we didn’t really know them. There was a family there with a baby, but I was so busy—I had three children, my husband was working—I didn’t have time to socialize.”


“It’s a shame that I do not remember [Steven] at all, but as a teenager, I don’t think I bothered much for two-year-olds,” says Anastasia’s sister-in-law, Dolores Del Favero Huff, who also lived in the house next door to the Spielbergs. “I did not baby-sit for him—they were Jewish. When I grew up in Avondale, as a gentile, I had no Jewish friends. The Jewish children stayed with their own kind. They didn’t bother with the gentiles. I just think it’s the breed—I believe that—I guess they feel they’re different from us. They’d say hello, but as far as playing or going to a movie—I did not make the attempt.”


Meyer Singerman, a veteran of the U.S. Army Air Forces who lived two doors down from the Spielbergs, had worked for the B’nai B’rith Anti-Defamation League. Although he recalls Avondale residents sharing Cincinnati’s exclusionary attitude toward African Americans—“I don’t think blacks could have moved between us and the Spielbergs”—he also says, “I don’t remember any anti-Semitic incidents there involving me and my family. When you lived in a Jewish community and you’re very young, you don’t see the real world.” Steven’s cousin Samuel Guttman, who was born in 1949 and has a younger brother and sister, says that whatever anti-Semitism Steven might have encountered in Cincinnati, it would have been “no more than us—having fights as kids.”


There were not many children of Steven’s age in the immediate neighborhood; most of the people there were middle-aged. Steven, as a result, spent most of his time around adults, his parents and grandparents and their family and friends, Jennie’s pupils from overseas, and the people at the shops and synagogues. Living his first two and a half years in a neighborhood that Peggie Singerman characterizes as “culturally advanced” and Millie Tieger describes as “a hotbed of brains,” Steven no doubt acquired some of his sense of otherness, his precocious reserve and gravity, from learning to deal at an early age with people much older than he was, many of whom regarded him (benignly or not) as “different.” A child who seldom spends time with other children learns to speak when he is spoken to, and he learns to live with solitude and his imagination, finding his sense of play not so much from others but from within himself.


What Steven experienced of Cincinnati, aside from his vividly remembered encounters with Holocaust survivors and his mother’s music, may lie mostly beneath his consciousness. His family’s devotion, especially that of his mother, no doubt fostered his early belief that he was a special creature, that his differences from other people were something to be cherished. Such a belief may have helped shield him from any conscious awareness that his more conventional and bigoted neighbors saw him as “different” in a negative sense. But he could not have helped internalizing the effects of their isolating gazes.
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LOOKING back from the perspective of 1994 and her born-again Orthodoxy, Leah felt that, aside from the family’s observance of the Sabbath and Jewish holidays during the years when Steven was growing up, Judaism was “a very nothing part of our lives.”


“Leah’s parents, while they were Orthodox, attended a Conservative synagogue,” Arnold relates. “But they obeyed the Sabbath. They did not do anything on the Sabbath, except during the worst times in the Depression, when Mr. Posner just had to work. When Leah and I got married, first we were observant, then she said, ‘I’ve got to get off the kosher standard. I want lobster and things like that.’ So we’d go off the kosher standard, then her conscience would prick her, and we’d go back on the kosher standard. We’d go in and out of it. But when she married [her second husband] Bernie Adler, he was very religious, so she stayed totally Orthodox.”


After leaving Cincinnati, the Spielbergs tended to observe the laws of kashrut (kosher food preparation) only when their rabbi or Leah’s parents came for visits. As Steven put it, they were “storefront kosher,” Leah once was preparing to boil three live lobsters for dinner when they heard the rabbi’s car pulling up in their driveway. Steven hid the lobsters under his bed until the rabbi departed.


If Leah and Arnold felt limited, and perhaps even somewhat stifled, by the traditionalism of their decaying hometown environment, and were willing to brave alienation and loss of identity by leaving it, they were typical of their generation of Americans who were starting families and careers in the late 1940s and early 1950s.


“In the years following the traumatic experiences of the Depression and World War II, the American Dream was to exercise personal freedom not in social and political terms, but rather in economic ones,” David Halberstam wrote in The Fifties. “Eager to be part of the burgeoning middle class, young men and women opted for material well-being, particularly if it came with some form of guaranteed employment. For the young, eager veteran just out of college (which he had attended courtesy of the GI Bill), security meant finding a good white-collar job with a large, benevolent company, getting married, having children, and buying a house in the suburbs. In that era of general good will and expanding affluence, few Americans doubted the essential goodness of their society.”


Arnold Spielberg, thirty-two years old and newly graduated from the University of Cincinnati, was hired by RCA in June 1949 to work at its manufacturing plant in Camden, New Jersey, across the Delaware River from Philadelphia. “I thought RCA hired me to work on television,” he recalls. “When I showed up there, no, they didn’t have a job in television: ‘You’re in military electronics.’ I was doing circuit development, then I got involved in advanced circuit development leading toward computer technology. We were trying to prove, ‘Do we use tubes? Do we use magnetics?’ Transistors were just beginning to come in. ‘Do we use transistors?’ We had contests to see which design would win for the technology to be used in designing computers. It was that early. I hardly even knew about computers at college, other than about analog computers. I only became interested in computers while I was at RCA.”


Arnold’s chosen field of electronics at that time was still a profession dominated by WASPs, although the fact that RCA chairman David Sarnoff was Jewish helped make that company more hospitable to Jews than others. As the Cold War and scientific competition with the Soviet Union intensified in the 1950s, many of the long-standing barriers against Jews in American science and higher education began to fall. Arnold was one of the beneficiaries of that change, and he became a stellar example of achievement in his newly developing field. But his family paid a price in rootlessness and instability as he moved them around the country, responding to career opportunities and the eventual westward migration of the computer industry.


“Just as I’d become accustomed to a school and a teacher and a best friend,” Steven has recalled, “the FOR SALE sign would dig into the front lawn…. And it would always be that inevitable good-bye scene, in the train station or at the carport packing up the car to drive somewhere, or at the airport. Where all my friends would be there and we’d say good-bye to each other and I would leave. This happened to me four major times in my life. And the older I got the harder it got. E.T. reflects a lot of that. When Elliott finds E.T., he hangs onto E.T., he announces in no uncertain terms, ‘I’m keeping him,’ and he means it.”


The anxiety caused by the first of those moves may help account for the fact that, as Spielberg has said, “I’ve been biting my fingernails since I was four”; the move from his hometown of Cincinnati to New Jersey took place the year he turned three.


Explaining why he nevertheless has always felt a basic optimism, Spielberg said, “I think growing up I had no other choice. I guess because I was surrounded by so much negativity when I was a kid that I had no recourse but to be positive. I think it kind of runs in my family, too—my mother is a very positive thinker. One of the first words I learned, when I was very, very young, one of the first sentences I ever put together—my mother reminds me of this, I don’t consciously remember it—was ‘looking forward to.’ And it always used to be about my grandparents. I loved it when they’d come to visit from Ohio to New Jersey, and my mother would say, ‘It’s something to look forward to, they’re coming in two weeks,’ and a week later she would say, ‘It’s something to look forward to, they’ll be here in a week.’”


During their first three years in New Jersey, the Spielbergs lived in a huge complex of identical red-brick buildings at 219 South Twenty-ninth Street in Camden, the Washington Park Apartments. Although the complex looked like a barracks, it had the consolation of being considered the place where, as family friend Miriam Fuhrman put it, “All the young Jewish couples lived” (it is now populated largely by African Americans and Hispanics). While the Spielbergs were living in Camden, Steven’s oldest sister, Anne, was born in Philadelphia on Christmas Day 1949.§


In August 1952, the Spielbergs moved a few miles to suburban Haddon Township, adjacent to Haddonfield, an affluent, quaintly picturesque village of seventeen thousand settled by English and Irish Quakers in the early 1700s. Many other RCA employees and people who worked in companies doing business with RCA also lived in the Haddonfield area. Although the Spielbergs were part of a migration of young Jewish families from Camden to Haddon Township, their move to the suburbs was a momentous step, culturally speaking, because it meant entering a more heterogeneous community in which Jews were expected to assimilate in order to be accepted.


“After 1945, the social and economic profile of American Jews was transformed into one that closely approximated the American ideal,” Edward S. Shapiro wrote in A Time for Healing. “… The most important aspect of the postwar mobility of America’s Jews was their relocation to the suburbs and their movement into the middle class. While mirroring national currents, these demographic trends were more intense among Jews. Historian Arthur Hertzberg estimated that, in the two decades between 1945 and 1965, one out of every three Jews left the big cities for the suburbs, a rate higher than that of other Americans. Jews tended to cluster together in suburbia, but some brave pioneers moved into suburbs that contained few if any Jews.”


Throughout the United States, the decade of the 1950s saw the old urban patterns of vertical, tightly packed dwellings exploding kaleidoscopically into sprawling rows of look-alike suburban houses, with lawns and backyards and sprinklers and play sets for the rapidly arriving children. There was a numbing conformity in this rush to replicate Levittown, an intellectually arid, unimaginative, and ultimately illusory sense of safeness that would be increasingly decried and mocked and challenged by the end of the decade. The rise of the civil rights and feminist movements would shed an even harsher light on the exclusionism and patriarchy of middle-class American life in the Eisenhower era, which the suburbs came to typify. Many who grew up in 1950s suburbia, as a result, look back on that milieu with an unresolved mixture of nostalgic yearning and embarrassed distaste, and Steven Spielberg, “the poet of suburbia,” has captured that ambivalence in his film.


It is impossible to imagine John Ford never having seen Monument Valley, or Martin Scorsese never having walked New York’s mean streets, and it is equally impossible to imagine Steven Spielberg never having grown up in suburbia. “I never mock suburbia,” Spielberg has said. “My life comes from there.” And yet, despite his expressions of affection for suburbia, Spielberg does not entirely believe in it, share its values, or depict it in quite such glowing terms on screen. In such Spielberg films as Duel and Close Encounters and E.T., the suburbia to which his upwardly mobile parents escaped in the early 1950s becomes a place of entrapment from which his dissatisfied middle-class characters yearn to escape.






* The full story of that meeting is told in Chapter Five.







† Hoffman’s lawsuit stated that in August 1994, the author of this book (whom the suit did not identify by name) “contacted Hoffman for an interview about Hoffman’s early associations with defendant Spielberg. The writer visited Hoffman at Hoffman’s personal residence, and spoke with Hoffman for approximately three hours. At the end of the interview, the writer commented he recently had discovered defendant Spielberg actually is one year older than his stated age. Hoffman was so astonished that he asked the writer to repeat his remark several times, to be sure he had heard the writer’s statement correctly.”


In fact, the author first contacted Hoffman on September 12, 1994, and in their interview two days later, the author told Hoffman that Spielberg’s fudging about his age had been reported in Goldstone’s 1981 Los Angeles Times article. When Hoffman subsequently asked how he had verified Spielberg’s age, the author replied that in February 1994 he had obtained a copy of the director’s birth certificate, a public record.







‡ Leah also began to call herself “Lee,” a name that sounded less Jewish; her husband and even her children called her Lee.







§ Steven’s two other sisters also were born while the family lived in New Jersey, Susan on December 4, 1953, and Nancy on June 7, 1956. Anne Spielberg lives in Sherman Oaks, California, with her husband, Danny Opatoshu (son of actor David Opatoshu and grandson of Yiddish novelist Joseph Opatoshu). Sue (Mrs. Jerry Pasternak) lives in Silver Spring, Maryland, and Nancy (Mrs. Shimon Katz) in Riverdale, New York.

























THREE


“MESHUGGENEH”







HE WAS DISAPPOINTED IN THE WORLD, SO HE BUILT ONE OF HIS OWN.


– JEDEDIAH LELAND ON CHARLES FOSTER KANE IN CITIZEN KANE





IT was early 1952 in Camden, New Jersey, when Steven Spielberg, who had just turned five, first went to a movie theater.


“My father told me he was taking me to see a circus movie,” he remembered. “Well, I didn’t hear the word movie, I only heard the word circus. So we stood in line for an hour and a half and I thought I was going to see a circus. I’d already been once before to a circus and I knew what to expect: the elephants, the lion tamer, the fire, the clowns. And to go into this big cavernous hall and there’s nothing but chairs and they’re all facing up, they’re not bleachers, they’re chairs—I was thinking, Something is up, something is fishy.


“So the curtain is open and I expect to see the elephants and there’s nothing but a flat piece of white cardboard, a canvas. And I look at the canvas and suddenly a movie comes on and it’s The Greatest Show on Earth [the Cecil B. DeMille spectacle that won the 1952 Oscar for Best Picture]. At first I was so disappointed, I was angry at my father, he told me he was taking me to a circus and it’s just this flat piece of color. I retained three things from the experience: the train wreck, the lions, and Jimmy Stewart as the clown. Everything else went over my head.


“For a while I kept thinking, Gee, that’s not fair, I wanted to see three-dimensional characters and all this was was flat shadows, flat surfaces…. I was disappointed by everything after that. I didn’t trust anybody…. I never felt life was good enough, so I had to embellish it.”




*





TO the exasperated Arnold Fuhrman, the Spielbergs’ next-door neighbor in Camden’s Washington Park Apartments, little “Stevie” was a “vilde chai”—Hebrew for “wild creature.”


“That Stevie is meshuggeneh,” Fuhrman also would complain, using the Yiddish for “crazy.” Once, he recalled, Leah baked a cherry pie and Stevie tossed it up onto the ceiling, watching fascinated as it dripped down to the floor. Fuhrman became incensed over Stevie’s constant teasing of his little daughter, Jane. Stevie liked to terrify Janie in her playpen, and when he would see her outside wearing a dress, he would push her to the ground and grind her into the dirt with his foot. Every day when Arnold Fuhrman came home from work, he would say to his wife, Mitzi, “What did the little son of a bitch do today?”


“Our father would threaten to kill Steven for years because he was torturing Janie,” her brother Glenn reports. “Later he took credit for Spielberg’s success because he didn’t kill him.”


As upsetting as it was to the Fuhrmans, Stevie’s fondness for scaring Janie was an early manifestation of his creative impulses. Even Arnold Fuhrman had to admit that Stevie was “bizarrely creative.” He gradually would learn to express his aggression and hostility in more constructive ways, although his penchant for teasing younger children, especially girls, would long retain an edge of cruelty. He would delight in scaring his friends and his three younger sisters, whether it was with spooky stories, weird makeup, ghoulish games, or, eventually, with movies that made people scream.


From his early childhood, Spielberg has been intimately acquainted with fear. “He had a lot of phobias that were slowly worked out,” his father says. “He had a lot of imagination, and it was not difficult for him to visualize anything scary or frightening or threatening out of simple things.”


After his family moved in 1952 to the Camden suburb of Haddon Township, Steven was haunted by a single spindly maple tree in front of their house, illuminated by a streetlight. The moving shadows it cast at night on the wall of his second-floor bedroom seemed to Steven the shapes of monsters with gnarled heads and waving tentacles. Other monsters, he was convinced, were living under his bed and in his closet. And he would study the crack in the plaster above the closet door, persuading himself that more amiable creatures dwelled inside the crack. He remembered having the eerie experience of seeing the crack burst open and pieces of plaster tumble out of it.*


Steven began to find that the fears generated by his imagination could be strangely enjoyable, especially if he could discover ways of manipulating them and conjuring up new kinds of visual effects. “I used to be afraid of my hand shadow,” he said. “I would sit in bed at night, see how white the ceiling was—there was a big stucco ceiling and I would put a small lamp on the floor and turn the light on with a naked bulb and I would do these hand shadows. I would scare myself with hand shadows.”


The solitary burden of all these phobias increasingly demanded some kind of outward release. He was fortunate to have a captive and pliable audience to help satisfy his need for self-expression: “I had no way to sublimate or channel those fears until I began telling stories to my younger sisters. This removed the fear from my soul and transferred it right into theirs.”


His sister Anne, who became a Hollywood screenwriter, once said, “At the preview of Jaws, I remember thinking, For years he just scared us. Now he gets to scare the masses.”




*





NOT much has been written about Spielberg’s years in New Jersey, the period in which he grew from two and a half to ten years old, a crucial time in anyone’s psychological and social development. Perhaps this neglect stems largely from Spielberg’s own fuzzy memories of that time and place. His boyhood reminiscences tend to focus on his subsequent years in Arizona, but it was while living in New Jersey that he first showed real signs of creativity.


His memory has created a distorted picture of his neighborhood in Haddon Township. In a 1994 interview with Julie Salamon for Harper’s Bazaar, he spoke at length about his feelings of growing up Jewish, remembering how distressed he was that “everybody else” on his street put up lights on their houses during the Christmas season. His house, by contrast, seemed like “the black hole of Crystal Terrace.” Spielberg’s subjective childhood feelings of exclusion, of being “different,” became so intense that his memory exaggerated the degree to which his family was seen that way by their New Jersey neighbors—many of whom, in fact, were also Jewish.


Crystal Terrace, which has changed very little since the Spielbergs lived there, is a lovely, tree-lined street curving in a gentle arc off one of the main thoroughfares in Haddon Township, Crystal Lake Avenue. The residents use the adjacent town of Haddonfield as their mailing address, and Spielberg never tells interviewers that he actually lived in Haddon Township. But especially for Jews in that era, the more welcoming Haddon Township, with its plethora of newly arrived and upwardly mobile middle-class families, was quite different from staid, old-monied, WASPish Haddonfield.


The Spielbergs’ two-story Colonial-style house at 267 Crystal Terrace, which they bought from Peter and Helen Rutan for $14,000, had been built in 1949, when the street was developed from rustic land, the site of an old potato farm. During Steven’s childhood, vestiges of the farm could still be seen behind his house, a block away. He and his playmates ventured with some trepidation into the Gothic wooded area and field surrounding the weathered farmhouse and a rusting hulk of abandoned farm machinery. Steven evidently combined his memory of the old farm with the single tree on his front lawn to conjure up the synthetic memory image of a spooky “forest outside my window.” He used that memory as the basis for the scene in his 1982 movie Poltergeist of a menacing tree bursting through a boy’s bedroom window (Poltergeist also contains a scary clown doll, another object of Steven’s childhood fears).


Many of the fathers in Steven’s neighborhood were, like Arnold Spielberg, young veterans buying their first homes under the GI Bill. Crystal Terrace swarmed with dozens of children, and one of Steven’s neighbors, Marjorie Robbins, remembers, “He looked like all the other boys—thin, with a crew cut and a baseball cap that covers the whole face, with the ears sticking out.” “There were a lot of Protestants, a lot of Jews, Italians, Irish, Germans—we all got along,” says Robert Moran Sr., an Irish Catholic who lived across the street from the Spielbergs. “It was a great place for kids to be raised. What made it nice is that it was a new neighborhood and people came in from different areas. Most of them were young people and they got along.”


There were at least three other Jewish families among the twenty-six households on Crystal Terrace in that period, and the adjacent Crystal Lake Avenue was predominantly Jewish. “That was the Jewish neighborhood, the Jewish ghetto” for the Haddonfield area, according to Rabbi Albert Lewis of Temple Beth Shalom, who taught Steven in Hebrew school from 1953 to 1957.† Before World War II, Haddonfield was restricted against Jews, and despite the postwar migration of Jews from Camden and nearby Philadelphia, it “liberalized but very slowly,” the rabbi says. “There were some country clubs in which Jews weren’t allowed. That’s why the Jewish community created our own country club.”


“My sense of anti-Semitism as a kid wasn’t so great [as Steven’s],” says Marjorie Robbins, who grew up around the corner from Steven on Crystal Lake Avenue and, like him, is Jewish. “I think because the Jewish community was very warm, very loving, so that gave a security. We lived in a community where the doors were always unlocked. We had freedom to express ourselves,  freedom to imagine, freedom to create. But the street where he lived was very Christian, and it was very obvious at Christmastime that we live in a Christian world. I remember seeing Santa Claus outside the A&P; on Kings Highway, and we used to get in the car—we all did this—and drive through Haddonfield looking at the Christmas lights. It was spectacular.”


Crystal Terrace had its own lavish Christmas displays. Each year the Morans prominently displayed a large Nativity scene, with spotlights and brightly colored Christmas lights, that the Spielbergs could not avoid seeing from their living-room window. Steven’s next-door playmate Scott MacDonald, who was a Presbyterian, remembers Christmas being “a stressful time for him. We would bring our presents outside, and I remember him kind of being in a huff. It was not one of his more positive times. Nobody knew the difference about a Jewish kid, except they didn’t have Christmas. He might have gotten some kind of ribbing about, ‘What do you do? You don’t get presents.’”


When Scott’s sister, Jane MacDonald Morley, asked Anne Spielberg why they didn’t celebrate Christmas, Anne “said their father was Santa Claus; he was so busy, and that’s why they didn’t have time to celebrate it. I knew he didn’t look anything like Santa Claus, and he smoked a cigar. I couldn’t imagine that Santa Claus smoked a cigar. So I asked my mother and she told me, No, Mr. Spielberg was not Santa Claus.”


Steven was “quite inquisitive—he asked everybody else about their religion,” recalls next-door neighbor Mary Devlin, a Catholic. Steven often quizzed her son, Charles F. (Cholly) Devlin, about his duties as an altar boy. “He would usually ask about the services—he would ask about the observances rather than about the faith,” Devlin says. “He was interested in rituals—‘What is that you are carrying?’ I would be carrying a cassock and a surplice. ‘Where are you going at six A.M.?’”


Another neighbor boy, Gerald McMullen, admits, “I was one of the kids who tried to convince him that Jesus Christ was really who he was. I was going to Catholic school and thought Christianity was it. Most of the kids were Christians; Steven was the only one who didn’t recognize Christ. He told me something to the effect that ‘My mother says no, Jesus was not the Messiah.’ I remember telling him to go home and tell his mother that she was wrong. He wasn’t upset to the point that he reacted with any kind of emotion or anger, but you could tell from the way he reacted to it that he felt bad. I don’t recall him as being different, he was actually quite well liked, but he probably felt it more keenly. His parents were really nice people, even to me, in spite of what I told him to tell his mother. She always welcomed me when I came over. I felt pretty bad about it when I got older and realized what I had done. The older I was, the more embarrassed I was I didn’t know the difference between Catholicism and Judaism.”


The lesson Steven took from such encounters was: “Being a Jew meant that I was not normal. I was not like everybody else. I just wanted to be accepted. Not for who I was. I wanted to be accepted for who everybody else was.”


At Christmastime, Julie Salamon related in her profile of Spielberg, he wanted his parents to put up lights for the holiday season. They told him, “We’re Jews and Jews don’t put up lights like the gentiles.” Steven tried to compromise by suggesting that he could put up blue and white Hanukkah lights, but his father said, “We have a nice menorah. If you’d like, we can put the menorah in the window.”


“No! No! No!” screamed Steven. “People will think we’re Jewish.”


One night before Christmas, according to Salamon’s account, Steven created his own holiday tableau on the family’s front porch. Using extension cords, he hooked up a color wheel—a revolving device that projected light patterns through colored gels—and had his four-year-old sister Anne wait at the switch. Then he draped himself in a white sheet and struck a Crucifixion pose, giving Anne the signal to start the color wheel turning. As people drove along Crystal Terrace to look at their neighbors’ Christmas decorations, Steven could be seen on his porch playing the role of Jesus, dramatically bathed in a nimbus of shimmering colored lights, a precursor of the lighting effects that would herald the arrival of extraterrestrial creatures in such Spielberg movies as Close Encounters and E.T.


“His parents were furious,” Salamon wrote. “They dragged their son, kicking and screaming and crying, away from the door, muttering that he was making a shande (a shame) in front of the neighbors.”


When that story was recounted to Arnold Spielberg by the author of this book, Arnold responded, “I don’t remember him dressing up like Jesus. I think I would have said, ‘No way.’” But Steven’s father added, “I can visualize him doing that. Because I know he wanted in the worst way to have Christmas lights. I said, ‘No, we’re Jewish. We can have Hanukkah lights, and we’ll put up the Hanukkah lights in the window.’ So I went and found a candelabra of some kind and I got blue little bulbs and put ’em in that, and I said, ‘Keep that in the window for the eight days of Hanukkah.’”


Even if it may have been somewhat transformed in Steven’s memory, the incident over the Christmas lights is a revealing illustration of the creative process by which he took his painful feelings of being different and learned to transform them into his own individualized form of art—an art that also would appeal to the widest audience he could think of commanding.




*





A YEAR and a half after joining RCA, Arnold Spielberg became the engineer in charge of advanced development on the company’s first venture into computers, the Bizmac. Covering an entire floor at the Camden plant, the Bizmac contained 100,000 vacuum tubes and was built as a cost-inventory control unit for the U.S. Army Ordnance Corps. While it was being completed, transistors were introduced, revolutionizing the field of computers.  RCA delivered the Bizmac to the Army, but it became a costly white elephant. Before leaving in 1957 to join General Electric in Phoenix, Arnold also worked on RCA’s first transistor computer, a communications computer project, and a computerized sales recording system.


Arnold “had the reputation of being one of the way-out engineers,” recalls his Camden neighbor Miriam Fuhrman, who also worked for RCA. “He was an absolutely brilliant guy.” “He was the absent-minded professor,” adds her niece, Jane Fuhrman Satanoff. “He once stopped to get gas. Leah got out to go to the bathroom. He was an hour on the road before he realized it.” Arnold’s superior on the Bizmac project, J. Wesley Leas, remembers him as “somebody you would give a job to and you knew he would do what it took to get it done. He would work his ass off. He would give his life for you. You would see him Sundays and late at night, if that was needed. He would stick with a problem no matter how difficult it was. But don’t ever put ‘creative’ with him. His technical talents were very good, as were his managerial talents. He just wasn’t imaginative. He was more methodical, more of a plodder. His wife was the one with vision, flair, creativeness.”


In some ways, though, the dichotomy Steven and others have drawn between his mother (creativity) and his father (logic) is not quite so clear-cut. Whether or not Arnold Spielberg can be described as a “creative” or “imaginative” person in the way those words are used in the arts, his pioneering work in computers demonstrated an ability to break new technological ground while devising complex and innovative systems of communication. Steven Spielberg has mastered an equally complex modern art form that depends to a large degree on the creative synthesis of technology, including computer technology, which his films have helped pioneer. And when Steven started making his first amateur films, he was imitating his father, who had been shooting home movies since the age of seventeen. After the family moved to Arizona on Valentine’s Day 1957, Arnold became an enthusiastic tutor and partner in Steven’s amateur filmmaking ventures.


Unlike Leah, however, Arnold was not as encouraging as Steven would have wanted about his choice of filmmaking as a career. From an early age, Steven could not help disappointing his father with his overwhelming lack of aptitude for engineering. “I hated math in school,” Steven admitted. “I didn’t like when they’d stack the numbers on top of one another. My father used to say things like three into four won’t go, and I’d say, ‘Of course it won’t. You can’t put that three into the little hole on top of the four. It won’t fit.’”


Nevertheless, Arnold is convinced that his technological background did have an influence on his son’s career as a filmmaker: “At first he absolutely was against learning anything mathematical or scientific. He still doesn’t care for it that much, but he has to now. It’s his game. And he’s caught up in it. His use of a computer is different from mine. I’ll use it to do business on it, I hardly ever play games. He only plays games on the computer. His house has a whole row of video games. He’s got a flight control simulator. I was over at his house the other day [in December 1995] and he was shooting down planes with a skill that a pilot would have.”


Leah’s attitude toward Steven’s education eventually would become more laissez-faire, but after he entered Edison School in Haddonfield, she too was frustrated over his lack of interest in conventional intellectual pursuits. “His mother was quite upset because his marks weren’t what she was expecting,” Mary Devlin recalls. “He only got C’s” during his four years at Edison, adds Jane Fuhrman Satanoff, “and she was always disappointed because he was so bright but he was just a mediocre student.” Leah would compare Steven’s marks with those of a certain neighbor boy, and “she couldn’t understand how [Steven] wasn’t doing better,” Mary Devlin says. “He didn’t have time for it—he was always playing. He was a nice boy, very small and thin, but just involved in what he wanted to do. We didn’t sense he was very bright.”


“He was a very quiet youngster and remained so for many years,” says Rabbi Lewis of Temple Beth Shalom. Attending Hebrew school three afternoons a week, Steven and his fellow students would arrive on the bus “very exhausted” following a full day at public school, the rabbi says. “Steven sat there. He did what he had to do.” Remembering his religious education as a “punitive” ordeal, Steven has tried to make his children’s training in Jewish tradition more “fun” than his own. “I don’t think I was really trained properly. I think it would have stuck with me a lot longer had the training been less like going to the dentist and having my teeth pulled.”‡ Although Steven was also a member of the temple’s Cub Scout troop, Rabbi Lewis could see he needed something more than school and Scouting to develop his social skills: “He needed a way to express himself. He needed that because he was pretty much a loner.”


“I remember him just walking along in a daydream, with that kind of towhead,” says Leah’s friend Grace Robbins. “I never remember him with other children. To me he looked like he was in a dream world. Not that he was lost in oblivion, but lost in thought. I didn’t see it because I didn’t spend much time with him, but I know Leah thought he had something. She said, ‘He is different. Without a doubt, he is different.’ His mother got a big kick out of him, in spite of the things he did. I think she was the right mother for him. She had a lot of wit, she wasn’t dull.”


As a result of his father’s long hours at work, Steven saw much less of Arnold than he would have liked. The elder Spielberg is remembered as a shadowy figure by most of his neighbors on Crystal Terrace. “I very rarely saw him,” says Steven’s next-door playmate Scott MacDonald. “I remember him being tall, on the portly side, with dark hair. He always wore a white shirt, and I remember he had a pocket protector with pens. I don’t remember seeing him playing in the yard. A lot of fathers would play catch with their kids or coach baseball, but Steve’s father never did. He would never do anything with him.”


Arnold’s workaholic tendencies already were beginning to cause noticeable tensions in the household. When Arnold would come home from work, the neighbors would often hear him bellow, “Leah, I am home. Are you dead or alive?” According to the neighbors, Leah seemed to spend most of her time practicing on her piano or sunning herself in the yard, when she wasn’t playing Scrabble or cards with her friends Grace Robbins and Cissy Cutler. Perhaps because of his growing distance from his father, Steven clung even closer to his mother emotionally. “Every time she had to go someplace he took sick,” Mary Devlin says. “He didn’t want her to go. She was a good person, very loving. Leah had a wonderful disposition—everything was a big joke. If you’d have a bad day, you’d talk to Leah and feel better.”


“She seemed much more relaxed than our mothers, much more liberal, bordering on the artsy,” says Cholly Devlin. “She was unique in our neighborhood. In a sense, my mother and the rest of the mothers were right out of the Betty Crocker mold. At the time housewives would clean house and serve food. They would be the model mother of the fifties. But she wasn’t. She was much more ‘with it.’”




*





AN incident that may have occurred near the end of the Spielbergs’ stay in New Jersey symbolized for Steven his growing tensions with his father.


Arnold brought home one of the first transistors from RCA. Displaying it to his family, he proclaimed, “This is the future.” Steven promptly took the transistor and swallowed it. His father, he recalled, laughed involuntarily, but quickly became upset. No wonder, for that primitive transistor was not only his Dad’s prized possession, but a piece of hardware half an inch in diameter and a quarter-inch thick, with “a few wires sticking out of it,” reports Arnold’s boss at RCA, Wes Leas. Steven’s impulsive gesture could be interpreted as a bizarre tribute to his father, his own literal way of internalizing Arnold’s love of technology. But in Steven’s telling of the tale, making the transistor disappear carried another, more defiant message to his father: “That’s your future, but it doesn’t have to be mine.”


Arnold says he doesn’t recall such an incident. But it amuses him to hear Steven’s story. He allows it “could have” happened. Steven, he says, “has a good memory [of what happened to him] as a kid. Plus a little exaggeration. He’s a good storyteller.”




*





“I SEE pieces of me in Steven,” Arnold told Time magazine in 1985. “I see the storyteller.”


“When my kids were young,” he explains, “I used to love to tell them stories. I used to have running serials of adventures that I told the kids when they’d go to bed. For Steve, I had one set of stories, and for the girls, another. I always involved them in the adventures. They were climbing caves, and going here and there. I invented time machines that they would get into and go back and look at things in time and rescue somebody. I invented all kinds of animals. I invented characters, a girl and a boy, Joanie Frothy Flakes and Lenny Ludhead, my kids’ age, so they related to ’em. We did serials all the time. ‘Now I quit. Now you guys gotta go to sleep. I’ll continue tomorrow.’”


Steven’s own budding talents as a storyteller first manifested themselves when he lived on Crystal Terrace.


His neighbor Jane MacDonald Morley, who was six years old when Steven moved away, remembers, “On lazy summer afternoons when we were bored, we’d sit in the shade at the side of our house, five or six kids, and Stevie would be the one telling the stories. He always seemed to get the attention of the kids. The younger kids believed what Stevie said, because he was a good storyteller. They’d go, ‘Uh-huh,’ ‘Really?,’ ‘Wow!’


“It was out of those sessions that the bogeyman story came. He told me, ‘The bogeyman will get you.’ I can remember telling him I wasn’t afraid of the bogeyman because I slept on the second floor, and he couldn’t get in my room. He said, ‘Oh, but the bogeyman is twenty feet tall and he can look into your window.’ He told me it didn’t matter how safe you were, he was there. I remember that night being awake, worried about the bogeyman.”


The stories didn’t always convince kids closer to Stevie’s own age, however, and sometimes the other boys would tell him to knock it off or would turn the tables on him.


“My sister would say, ‘Stevie scares me,’” Jane’s brother Scott recalls. “Stevie was very sincere, and my sister was very gullible. He was pretty slick about throwing a few zingers at my sister and his sister. He would be bragging about this or saying that. We would all roll our eyes and we would never believe him. I said I had an alligator in my basement, and day after day he would beg me to let him see the alligator. He would ask me, ‘How do you feed him?’ I said, ‘I put hamburger meat on the end of a pencil. He’s only four or five inches long.’ He would ask me, ‘Can I see it?’ I would say, ‘He’s not well.’ Finally he accused me of lying to him. I had him going for a while.”


From telling scary stories to little girls, Stevie’s imagination soon turned to ever more elaborate pranks.


“Even if he hadn’t become famous, he’s the kind of kid I would have remembered,” says Stanley (Sandy) MacDonald, the older brother of Jane and Scott. “You could see he had a theatrical bent. We both used to love storms. Most of the kids in the neighborhood didn’t, but he was one of the few who liked storms. He had a real nice screened-in porch in back of his house, and when the sky would get dark and stormy we’d wear yellow slickers and sit on his porch in lawn chairs, reading comic books and looking for lightning.


“One summer somebody got a set of golf clubs, and he and I built a golf course in his back yard. We dug holes and planted tin cans and flags. That summer we had the only tornado we ever had in the area. We could see the dark cloud and we had to go in our basements. But I liked to watch storms, so I looked out and saw Stevie out in his backyard running around knocking over the golf course flags, spinning around with his arms outstretched. I remember asking him later why he did it and he said, ‘I didn’t break the golf course. The tornado did.’ I said, ‘Stevie, I saw you.’ He wouldn’t admit it, but he became a tornado.”§
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WHEN it came to neighborhood sports, Stevie was hopelessly uncoordinated. “He would participate, but we would kind of tease him about not being able to throw a football or catch very well,” Scott MacDonald admits. “We wouldn’t really tease him in a cruel way, because he never reacted in a way for us to get a kick out of it. He would play for a while and then say, ‘I’m going to go in.’ Stevie wasn’t ostracized or anything, but he had a different style of play. You might call him a slightly nerdy kid, but he really wasn’t. We thought he was pretty cool in the areas he was interested in.”


“One time someone got boxing gloves,” Sandy MacDonald relates, “and we made a ring between our two houses. When it was Stevie’s turn, he got hit and ran away. He got a bottle of ketchup from his house and every time he was hit he’d pour ketchup on himself. He had it all over his clothes and hair.”


“Another time,” recalls Scott, “Stevie put a tomato in a pot on his stove. Three or four of us were gathered around watching. He said, ‘Watch what happens when I get this to explode.’ Before it happened, we heard his mom or dad pulling in the driveway and we all took off. He thought it was a new way to make blood; he liked anything that would look like blood, that would explode all red. He used to love mulberries. He would squeeze them on his head and arms and run into his house screaming to his mother that he was bleeding.”


Then there was the time Stevie managed to cause a commotion simply by locking himself into his bathroom on the second floor of his house. As Scott says, “Seeing the fire department coming through the window with ladders and everything, I thought that was really neat.”




*





THE future director of Jurassic Park had an early fascination with dinosaurs. That was not unusual for a boy growing up in the Haddonfield area, because the town, built on land once covered by a prehistoric ocean, was the discovery site of the Hadrosaurus foulkii, the first virtually complete dinosaur skeleton found in modern history. When Spielberg was a boy, schoolchildren often were taken on field trips to the site where the hadrosaur fossil was found. Some of the remains were on display at Philadelphia’s Academy of Natural Sciences, which sold brass models of dinosaurs.


“I’ve been interested in dinosaurs since I was a child,” Spielberg said while making Jurassic Park. “As most of my films originate, the interest of the subject matter originates from kidhood. And I remember always collecting dinosaur models, and being interested in the fantastic size of these creatures.”


Like almost every American boy growing up in the 1950s, Spielberg also imbibed a sense of fantasy and adventure from comic books, which had a strong influence in shaping the bold, sometimes exaggerated clarity of his visual style as a filmmaker. Among his favorites were the superhero and fantasy genres—Superman, Batman, and the Bizarro characters—and the Disney comics featuring Mickey Mouse, Donald Duck, and Uncle Scrooge. Stevie and friends also devoured Mad magazine, which became a cult favorite among aspiring hipsters throughout the United States during the 1950s with its refreshing irreverence, “sick” humor, and clever movie parodies.


Mad paved the way for Spielberg and his fellow Hollywood “movie brats” to indulge their boyhood fondness for old movie clichés, reinventing and parodying genres and images with twists for the postmodernist era. A famous example can be seen in Spielberg’s Raiders of the Lost Ark. The script called for an elaborate sword-and-bullwhip duel between Harrison Ford’s Indiana Jones and an Arab foe. But Harrison Ford felt ill and Spielberg was trying to speed up the schedule, so they decided to have Indiana Jones abruptly terminate the duel by pulling out his pistol and casually blowing away his opponent. Spielberg said the scene reminded him of the Mad feature “Scenes We’d Like to See.”


Perhaps it was largely through the influence of comic books that as a child in New Jersey, “Stevie had a surprising kind of morbid streak,” Scott MacDonald says. “We thought it was really cool. I remember his elaborate torture chamber. We used to go down in his basement, and he would show us how he would put his toy men in a guillotine he had made out of a black shoebox. He chopped off heads, he sawed a few heads off—it was a great effect. When my brother and I saw E.T., we said to each other, ‘Gee, that doesn’t seem like Stevie.’ He seemed kind of warped when he was little. When he moved to Arizona, I got a fascinating letter from him telling us about scorpions and about the Gila monster, how it had really cool poison spikes on its head. We couldn’t imagine what kind of lifestyle he had out there.”


In Stevie’s basement there was also a big cardboard box he used for puppet shows. “I began wanting to make people happy from the beginning of my life,” he remembered. “As a kid, I had puppet shows—I wanted people to like my puppet shows when I was eight years old.”
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UNDOUBTEDLY the single most pervasive cultural influence on Spielberg in his early childhood years was television. “I was, and still am, a TV junkie,” he has said. “I’ve just grown up with TV, as all of us have, and there is a lot of television inside my brain that I wish I could get out of there. You can’t help it—once it’s in there, it’s like a tattoo.”


The Spielbergs bought their first television set, a round-tubed DuMont, in 1949. At that time, national TV networks had been in full operation for barely two years and only one in twelve American families owned a set. Although television was still in its infancy in the early 1950s when Steven lived on Crystal Terrace, that era was so rich with creative invention that it now is regarded as the medium’s “Golden Age.” Few kids were watching highbrow anthology programs like Omnibus or Playhouse 90, but Steven and his friends grew up huddled around their small-screen black-and-white TV sets (many of them made at his father’s RCA plant in Camden), absorbing shows that are now considered classics. While the influence of TV on the baby boomer generation of filmmakers often has been lamentable—Spielberg’s own big-screen productions of The Flintstones and The Little Rascals are among the more witless examples of recycled TV nostalgia—much of what he and his friends watched as children was considerably more sophisticated than most of today’s TV offerings in terms of the quality of writing and performing.


Among their favorites were the brilliantly inventive comedy skits on Your Show of Shows, starring Sid Caesar and Imogene Coca; uproariously funny variety programs such as The Milton Berle Show and The Colgate Comedy Hour, with Dean Martin and Jerry Lewis; sitcoms such as The Honeymooners and The Phil Silvers Show, with Silvers as Sergeant Bilko; and Jack Webb’s police drama Dragnet (which Stevie found frightening). They watched such kiddie programs as Howdy Doody; Don Herbert’s Mr. Wizard; Andy’s Gang, with Andy Devine showing jungle serials; and the adventure sagas Captain Video and His Video Rangers, Superman, Hopalong Cassidy, The Roy Rogers Show, The Cisco Kid, and The Lone Ranger.


Most popular of all with the kids in Stevie’s neighborhood were Walt Disney’s Sunday night Disneyland series, which began in 1954, and The Mickey Mouse Club, the daily variety program starring the Mouseketeers which first aired in 1955. Stevie had crushes on three of the girl Mouseketeers in succession: perky Darlene Gillespie, winsome little Karen Pendleton, and the sultry-yet-wholesome Annette Funicello, whose spectacular emergence into puberty awakened many American boys’ libidos. For Steven, that was the time when puppy love turned into “sexual awe—I hate to use the word sexual; it’s a little heavy, but there it was.”


Playing Davy Crockett was a neighborhood obsession on Crystal Terrace for more than a year following the December 1954-February 1955 broadcasts of the Disneyland TV serial “Davy Crockett” (later released as a feature film titled Davy Crockett, King of the Wild Frontier). Unfortunately for Stevie, everyone else got a coonskin cap before he did, so he wound up being chosen to play the “bad guy,” Mexican general Santa Anna. He and his playmates battled to the death with cap pistols and long toy rifles at their makeshift “Alamo,” a stockade fence in the backyard of a neighbor family.


Steven was not only fascinated by what appeared on television, but by the tube itself. “I believe there’s something in there trying to get out,” he once said. “I used to stick my eye right up to the snow. I was this far away from the TV set and there would always be some out-of-the-way channel, some far-off channel that was getting its signal through the station that wasn’t broadcasting, and there would be ghosts and images of some broadcasting station five hundred miles away.” In Poltergeist, which Spielberg has described as “my revenge on TV,” a little girl is sucked into the family TV set by ghosts she greets in the opening scene by staring into the snow on the tube and announcing, “They’re here.”


Steven often has claimed that, aside from such bland fare as The Mickey Mouse Club and some comedy programs, he was “forbidden to watch TV.” His parents, he said, not only rationed TV viewing on principle, but after he became distraught watching a documentary on snakes, they also tried to shield him from such potentially disturbing shows as Dragnet and M Squad. Steven even remembered his parents trying tricks to discourage his surreptitious TV viewing: “Sometimes my father would attach hairs in exact positions so he could tell if I had lifted up the dust ruffle over the RCA nineteen-inch screen and snuck a peek…. I always found the hair, memorized exactly where it was and rearranged it before they came home.”


Arnold Spielberg responds, “He used to complain I never let him watch television, that his parents were real strict. Well, he saw plenty of TV. It just wasn’t enough. The TV was on all the time. But, you know, we said, ‘Homework time.’ And I guess I was kinda hard-nosed about that. I would not let them watch too much television, so he resented that.”


Steven’s conflict with his father over that issue may help explain why he later declared that “my stepparent was the TV set.” He also pointed out that before the advent of television, “[P]arents would read to the kids from a rocking chair, and families were very, very close. They used to gather around the reader, or the seer, of the household, and in the twenties and thirties, usually it was the father. And then television replaced the father, and now it seems to be replacing both the father and the mother.” Since his father’s nightly storytelling ritual once had been so important to Steven, and since he had to turn elsewhere for entertainment when Arnold became consumed with his job in the 1950s, it was literally true, in that sense at least, that in Steven’s house, “television replaced the father.”


Spielberg’s parents also tried to control his movie-watching habits in his preadolescent years. “I could only see films in their presence and usually pictures that appealed more to them.” The Spielbergs attended family-audience movies such as The Court Jester with Danny Kaye, the Fred Astaire–Audrey Hepburn musical Funny Face, and of course, Disney movies. “And yet when I came screaming home from Snow White when I was eight years old, and tried to hide under the covers, my parents did not understand it,” Steven recalled, “because Walt Disney movies are not supposed to scare but to delight and enthrall. Between Snow White, Fantasia, and Bambi, I was a basket case of neurosis.”¶


Because his parents “didn’t know what backfired” at the movie theater, Steven recalled, they “tried very, very hard to screen violence from my life.” He and his friends occasionally went to Saturday matinees at the Westmont and Century theaters in neighboring Westmont and Audubon, paying a quarter to watch a program consisting of cartoons and a monster movie, a sci-fi movie, or a Western with Hopalong Cassidy or the Cisco Kid. But Steven’s parents’ concern over his moviegoing fare and the freer availability of TV discouraged him from becoming a movie addict until later in his boyhood, after he moved to Arizona. The most enduring feeling about movies he took away from that period in New Jersey was his frustration at being kept away from them. As he said later, “I feel that perhaps one of the reasons I’m making movies all the time is because I was told not to [watch movies].”
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LIKE many other sons of veterans, Stevie was fascinated from an early age with World War II: “I love that period. My father filled my head with war stories—he was a radioman on a B-25 fighting the Japanese in Burma. I have identified with that period of innocence and tremendous jeopardy all my life. It was the end of an era, the end of innocence, and I have been clinging to it for most of my adult life.”|| As a boy he especially enjoyed building model planes and was, he said, “attached to flying,” like his youthful protagonist in Empire of the Sun.


Stevie and his friends on Crystal Terrace would stage battle scenes with plastic and rubber soldiers (World War II or Civil War) and with cowboys and Indians. Stevie became known as the grand master of those war games. He found willing partners in Sandy MacDonald, who also enjoyed long, intricate games that stretched on for days, and his brother Scott, who remembers the unusual way Stevie used to start playing:


“Stevie had this big table and he would set up a village with Indians or the Civil War. He would show us how they would move around. We wouldn’t really play—we would watch him set up the scenario of his play. He would say things like, ‘This guy gets caught here. Ooh, this guy gets an arrow. This guy gets guillotined.’ We had about five or ten minutes of him administering the play and then we could all play.”


“I’d go across to Stevie’s basement and we’d set up those huge battle scenes,” adds Sandy. “He always played with a box of nails and a hammer. When the soldiers were hit by arrows, he’d put nails into them, and use ketchup for blood. At the end of the game he had fewer and fewer usable soldiers. I never used to bring my men over because he’d ruin them. I wouldn’t do that to my men. For him, it was worth it to get an effect; it had to be real, to have an arrow stick out. It was just that little bit of extra that I wouldn’t have thought of doing.”


“We [girls] were never allowed to play, but we would stand around and watch,” Sandy’s sister Jane remembers. “Most kids would be content to say, ‘Oh, this guy’s killed.’ Steven would make it seem that the guy was getting killed. To me that’s why he seemed different.”






* As unlikely as that may seem, he probably was not imagining it. Loretta Knoblach, who bought the house from the Spielbergs with her husband, August, says stresses in the wall cause the plaster above the closet door to expand slowly, with the result that “the crack in his bedroom comes back every couple of years, then we paint it.”







† Steven also attended kindergarten through fourth grade at Thomas A. Edison School in Haddonfield from December 1952 until February 1957. Earlier he had attended kindergarten in Camden.







‡ When his second wife, Kate Capshaw, converted to Judaism before their marriage in 1991, Spielberg studied along with her and said he had “learned more in one year than I had learned all through formal Jewish training.”







§ Spielberg’s Amblin Entertainment made Twister, director Jan De Bont’s 1996 action blockbuster about tornado researchers.







¶ Steven was even traumatized by Disneyland: “My father took me to the Magic Kingdom in 1959. I was afraid of everything: the crazy eyeball of the sea serpent in the submarine ride; the witch from Snow White offering me a poison apple; Mr. Toad’s Wild Ride. Yet it was the kind of scary that tickles. It took me several trips back and a little more growing up before I recognized the twinkle in Mr. Disney’s eyes.”


 || As an amateur filmmaker in Arizona, Spielberg often made World War II movies. And as a professional filmmaker he has made Schindler’s List, Empire of the Sun, 1941, and for his TV series Amazing Stories, “The Mission.” He also remade the World War II flying picture A Guy Named Joe in a contemporary setting, as Always.

























FOUR


“A WIMP IN A WORLD OF JOCKS”







BY SOME IRONIC JUSTICE, THOSE WHO HAVE HAD A DIFFICULT CHILDHOOD ARE OFTEN BETTER EQUIPPED TO ENTER ADULT LIFE THAN THOSE WHO HAVE BEEN VERY SHELTERED, VERY LOVED; IT IS A KIND OF LAW OF COMPENSATION.


– THE SCHOOLTEACHER IN FRANÇOIS TRUFFAUT’S SMALL CHANGE





LOOKING back on his childhood, Spielberg always has thought of Arizona as “my real home. For a kid, home is where you have your best friends and your first car, and your first kiss; it’s where you do your worst stuff and get your best grades.”


Arizona was also the place where Steven’s family ties grew increasingly strained, almost to the breaking point, turning him more and more inward for emotional sustenance. And, most important, Arizona was the place where he set his sights on becoming a filmmaker. One of his boyhood friends in Phoenix, Jim Sollenberger, recalls Spielberg saying “he could envision himself going to the Academy Awards and accepting an Oscar and thanking the Academy. He was twelve or thirteen at the time.”


“I’ve been really serious about [filmmaking] as a career since I was twelve years old,” Spielberg said in a 1989 interview. “I don’t excuse those early years as a hobby, do you know what I’m saying? I really did start then.”
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STEVEN’S mother later admitted that the very idea of moving to Phoenix made her “hysterical” with culture shock: “I mean, in [1957] what nice Jewish girl moved to Arizona? I looked in an encyclopedia—it was published in 1920, but I didn’t notice at the time—and it said: ‘Arizona is a barren wasteland.’ I went there kicking and screaming. I had to promise Steve a horse, because he didn’t want to go either. I never made good on that promise, and he still reminds me of it today.”


When they arrived in February 1957, the Spielbergs spent four months in a cramped two-bedroom apartment on the west side of Phoenix before moving into their newly built ranch house at 3443 North Forty-ninth Street, in the city’s Arcadia neighborhood.* As a newcomer living in a suburban development carved out of citrus groves near the winter resorts at the foot of Camelback Mountain, Steven felt more like an “alien” than ever before. In that conservative western community on the fringe of the Arizona desert, Gila monsters still roamed, men wore string ties, some streets were unpaved, new commercial buildings on some streets had to have hitching rails out front, and his neighbors included Senator Barry Goldwater and a golf-playing youngster named J. Danforth (Dan) Quayle. The ten-year-old Jewish kid from back east could not help sticking out, like the ears protruding from under his baseball cap.


“He was the first person I knew who came with an accent,” recalls Spielberg’s grade school classmate Susan Smith LeSueur, a Mormon who is an Arizona native. “He talked a lot and gestured a lot. He was very funny-looking, and I guess very Jewish. I didn’t know many Jews. I didn’t know anybody who talked that way or looked that way. He was so different.”


“I guess we were a pretty intolerant bunch of people back in the fifties and sixties,” says Steven’s Boy Scout counselor Richard (Dick) Hoffman Jr. “It was like being back in the thirties, practically. Phoenix didn’t have a lot of Jews. With the kids I didn’t see much anti-Semitic stuff, but I did see it among the parents. We have a lot of jackasses out here. People out here are small-minded. Being a liberal is almost like being a Communist.”


Entering Ingleside Elementary School during the second semester of fourth grade, Steven reacted to his culture shock by withdrawing into himself. “He was very quiet,” says his sixth-grade teacher, Eleanor Wolf. “I felt sorry for him because he didn’t have any friends. You see, he was different from everybody else. Nerdy. He looked kind of prim and proper, he wore a little button-down collar; he looked kind of sissy. He was living in a dream world. He was rather nondescript, just a good little kid. He was so reserved—a lot of kids wanted to direct everything, but he didn’t. I don’t know what his problem was—maybe it was self-consciousness, low self-esteem. Oh, heavens, never in my wildest dreams did I imagine Steven Spielberg would have grown up to be anything like he is.”
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SOON after he came to Arizona, however, there was a harbinger of things to come.


“One night my dad woke me up in the middle of the night and rushed me into our car in my night clothes,” Spielberg remembered. “I didn’t know what was happening. It was frightening. My mom wasn’t with me. So I thought, What’s happening here? He had a thermos of coffee and had brought blankets, and we drove for about half an hour. We finally pulled over to the side of the road, and there were a couple hundred people, lying on their backs in the middle of the night, looking up at the sky. My dad found a place, spread the blanket out, and we both lay down.


“He pointed to the sky, and there was a magnificent meteor shower. All these incredible points of light were crisscrossing the sky. It was a phenomenal display, apparently announced in advance by the weather bureau. My dad had really surprised me—actually, he’d frightened the hell out of me! At the same time, though, I was tremendously attracted to the source, to what was causing this.”


Although Steven remembered being in a crowd of hundreds of people, “We were by ourselves,” reports Arnold Spielberg. “There was a comet that was supposed to be visible in the sky. Some journal said there should be a comet, maybe tenth magnitude or something like that. I wanted to see the comet, and I wanted Steve to see the comet. So we drove up over the mountains and into the desert, away from the city lights. We just got out of the car and lay down in the sand and we started looking for that comet.


“For some reason, a bunch of meteors showed up. In those days, there wasn’t that much smog in the air or dust in the air in Phoenix, and the stars were just tremendous. They were so intense it was frightening. When you got out of the car, there was this bright canopy of dust, bright lights over your head. And it was momentarily frightening—you know, you got disoriented a little bit. Then we settled down. And I could not find that damn comet.”


His father, Steven recalled, “gave me a technical explanation of what was happening…. But I didn’t want to hear that. I wanted to think of them as falling stars.” That memory would inspire his first feature-length film, the Arizona-made Firelight, and its later “remake,” Close Encounters of the Third Kind, in which Richard Dreyfuss bundles up his family in their station wagon, drives out into the country, and watches by the side of the road as strange and wonderful lights appear in the night sky.
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WHILE growing up in Phoenix, Steven “had more friends than he remembers having,” his sister Anne has pointed out. But there were many people who looked down on the gawky kid with glasses and acne and considered him “weird” or “wacky,” a “nerd” and a “wimp.” Steven remembered being “a wimp in a world of jocks…. I was skinny and unpopular. I hate to use the word wimp, but I wasn’t in the inner loop…. I had friends who were all like me. Skinny wrists and glasses. We were all just trying to make it through the year without getting our faces pushed into the drinking fountain.”


Some kids bullied Spielberg and ostracized him from social events. Some called the gangly boy with the big ears and nose and the bulging Adam’s apple “Spielbug.” And a few taunted him for being Jewish. His frequent recollection that he was the only Jewish kid in his neighborhood, and in his Phoenix elementary and high schools, is factually incorrect, but he often must have felt that way. His awareness of being “different” in his new surroundings was so acutely painful that he secretly tried to alter his physical appearance in the privacy of his bedroom: “I used to take a big piece of duct tape and put one end on the top of my nose and the other end as high up on my forehead line as I could. I had this big nose. My face grew into it, but when I was a child, I was very self-conscious about my scbnozz. I thought if you kept your nose taped up that way it would stay … like Silly Putty!”


Apart from a lackluster stint with Ingleside Elementary School’s Little League baseball team, the C&L; Service Mounties, Steven did not participate in sports, the main preoccupation of most boys in his neighborhood. But his mother’s friend Marie Tice recognized other qualities in Steven: “I wouldn’t have called him a wimp, because he had strength. Steven was always very involved in movies. I don’t remember him ever being interested in anything else. I don’t think Steven ever had any doubt about what he was going to do. He was very determined without being obnoxious about it.”


Many who knew him could not help scoffing when he declared that he was heading to Hollywood. His friend Barry Sollenberger, who also made amateur movies, “didn’t hesitate to give him some advice. I remember once when I went into high school and changed my interests to more important things like football games and chasing cheerleaders, I said, ‘Come on, Steve, grow up—what are you going to do, film movies all your life?’ He was really a perfect example of somebody that got the last laugh on the neighborhood.”


One of those who did not mock Steven’s dreams was his seventh-and eighth-grade social-studies and homeroom teacher, Patricia Scott Rodney, whom Steven knew as “Miss Scott.” “I’ve heard him talk on television about not being a popular kid,” she says. “He talks about people not liking him, how he was an outsider. That always makes me very sad. I’ve spent my life with kids, and I didn’t see him as an outsider. I go, ‘Wow, was I that stupid? Or was it much bigger to him being an adult?’ I thought he was a force in this group. We always knew what he was thinking; he spoke up. He was very bright and he was a neat, funny little kid. He didn’t care much about how he looked, he didn’t have any real interest in haircuts or whatever the other kids were wearing. He would just come in as he was, and he presented himself as a really big personality.”


“He had friends around him,” says classmate Clynn Christensen, “but if he didn’t, he wasn’t upset about it. He could take it or leave it. Maybe he was just so far ahead of the rest of us that he knew where he was going in life and wanted to get an early start.”
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SHORTLY after he moved to Arizona, Steven started fooling around with his father’s new movie camera. Arnold recalls, “Around that time, Leah, for a birthday or Father’s Day present, got me this little twenty-dollar Brownie 8mm movie camera, a real cheap, no-frills camera. It worked fine. Steve glommed onto it pretty quick.”


“I became interested in moviemaking,” Steven explained, “simply because my father had an 8mm movie camera, which he used to log the family history…. I had an outdoorsy family and we would spend three-day week-ends on outings in sleeping bags in the middle of the wilderness in the White Mountains of Arizona. My dad would take the camera along and film the trips and we’d sit down and watch the footage a week later. It would put me right to sleep…. I would sit and watch the home movies and criticize the shaky camera movements and bad exposures until my father finally got fed up and told me to take over.”


“If you know so much, why don’t you try?” Arnold Spielberg said as he gave his son the camera.


“I became the family photographer and logged all our trips,” Steven continued. “… I was fascinated. I had the power of choice. This is what I choose to show. This is my view of the trip. When the film was processed and screened, Dad was very critical and fussy about my choices: ‘Why did you show this and not that?’ But it was my view, my choice….


“Then I began to think that staging real life was much more exciting than just recording it. So I’d do things like forcing my parents to let me out of the car a hundred yards before we reached the campgrounds when we went on trips. I’d run ahead and film them arriving and unpacking and pitching camp…. I began to actually stage the camping trips and later cut the bad footage out. Sometimes I would just have fun and shoot two frames of this and three frames of that and ten frames of something else, and it got to the point where the documentaries were more surrealistic than factual.”


Steven’s friends remember Arnold helping shoot some of Steven’s early movies, but Arnold says modestly that there was little he could teach his son about using a movie camera: “All you could do with the camera was push the button and load it. That’s all there was. You couldn’t even focus it—it was a fixed-focus camera. He took over so fast that all I did was give him a little bit of coaching. When we’d go on vacation together, he’d take the camera and do the shooting, and it was always better.”


“My earliest recollection of Steven with a camera,” his mother said, “was when my husband and I were leaving on a vacation and we told him to take a shot of the camper leaving the driveway. He got down on his belly and was aiming at the hubcap. We were exasperated, yelling at him, ‘Come on! We have to leave! Hurry up!’ But he just kept on doing his thing, and when we saw the finished results, he was able to pull back so that this hubcap spinning around became the whole camper—my first glimpse at the Spielbergian touch and a hint of things to come.”†


Steven soon made what he considered his first actual movie. The storyline was an impulse of sheer juvenile delight—“my electric trains crashing into each other.” It came about because he had become so fond of staging train wrecks that his father threatened to take the trains away if he didn’t stop. So Steven came up with the creative solution of putting together one final, spectacular crash for his own viewing enjoyment, composed of various angles of trains roaring down the tracks on collision courses, with cutaways to shots of plastic men reacting in mute horror. His cinematic inspiration was the scene “when that train came off the screen and into my lap” in the first movie he ever saw, Cecil B. DeMille’s The Greatest Show on Earth. When he set up his own version, “Intuitively, I guess, I put the film together the right way. I figured if you shot one going right to left and one going left to right, it would be clear they were going to crash.” He called his movie The Last Train Wreck. When it came back from being developed, he was “amazed at how my little trains looked like multiton locomotives.”


When he made his first primitive little movies, Steven was “editing in the camera.” Since Steven had no film splicer then, his father explains, “When he had two guys shooting it out, he’d say to one guy, ‘Now, you pull.’ And he’d photograph him pulling. Then he’d say, ‘Stop right there.’ The guy’d stop. He’d change the film, turn to the other guy, and say, ‘Now you pull.’ So you could see, in the continuity state, one guy pull before the other, and then Bam!


“I was over to his house a week and a half ago [in December 1995]. For Christmas and Hanukkah, he had put up a train set for Max [his ten-year-old son]. He takes it out once a year and sets it up. It’s a real elaborate, German-made set, everything detailed. Max had invented a movie. Steve was the cameraman, Max was the director: ‘Now, let’s see, we gotta put this man on the rail, the train’s gonna run him over.’ Kids’ gory stuff. Steve had this new video camera and he was videoing the thing up real close, because it had a lens that will allow you to get up within three or four inches. He was filming the trains and editing it in the camera, just like he did as a kid. He said, ‘Yeah, Dad, I’m editing it in the camera!’ Back to the beginning.”
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STEVEN’S filmmaking hobby was a natural outgrowth of what he admitted was his boyhood need for attention. That need grew following the births of his three sisters in six and a half years during the 1950s. With his father often absent, both physically and emotionally, Steven felt he lived in “a house of women. Even the dog was female. I was the only guy in the entire house. I was eight, nine, or ten at the time, and I was supposed to be the oldest in the family, but [my sisters] had the run of the house. I just remember my sisters were terrors. They’d run through the house, they’d come into my room and they’d knock my models off the shelf; they’d do anything. I had no choice, I had to do something to make my presence felt.”


Steven spent much of his childhood thinking up increasingly sophisticated ways of bullying his three sisters. “I used to do anything in my imagination to terrify them,” he admitted. “I was terrible. From seven to thirty-three I was really awful to them.” It did not take him long to recognize that being a movie director was a socially permissible form of bullying: by casting his sisters in his films, he could subject them to any kind of violence and mayhem he desired, just as long as it was fictional.


Moviemaking enabled him to turn his feelings of sibling rivalry and powerlessness into something more positive: “I saw it as a way to compete with my sisters for my parents’ attention. It was my way of saying, ‘Hey, I’m here, too. Look what I can do!’ I wanted approval and applause. Well, the camera gave it to me…. I discovered something I could do, and people would be interested in it and me.”


“Steven didn’t get involved too heavily in the neighborhood activities until he came around with his little movie camera, and that kinda caught our attention,” says Phoenix schoolmate Steve Lombard. “He got interaction that way with all the kids in the neighborhood, as he directed them. Everybody was excited to be in his movies and they couldn’t wait to see themselves onscreen.”




*





WHEN a visitor enters Steven’s old neighborhood in Phoenix today, with its 1950s-era ranch houses still lining a broad, tranquil street crisscrossed by friendly kids riding bicycles, the feeling is inescapable: You’re not only going back in time, you’re entering into a Spielberg movie. If Steven’s anxiety-ridden life as a small boy in Haddon Township lends that neighborhood the aura of Poltergeist, this suburban neighborhood, with its deceptively idyllic surface hiding powerful undercurrents of tension, is redolent of E.T.


E.T. is “a very personal story,” Spielberg has said. “… I’m not into psychoanalysis, but E.T. is a film that was inside me for many years and could only come out after a lot of suburban psychodrama…. E.T. was about the divorce of my parents, how I felt when my parents broke up. I responded by escaping into my imagination to shut down all my nerve endings crying, ‘Mom, Dad, why did you break up and leave us alone?’… My wish list included having a friend who could be both the brother I never had and a father that I didn’t feel I had anymore. And that’s how E.T. was born.”


Although Arnold and Leah Spielberg were not divorced until 1966, after the family had moved to California, the problems in the marriage became obvious to Steven and his sisters while they were living in Phoenix. The children’s daily lives were clouded by their parents’ unspoken antagonisms, and at night those differences would find expression in arguments the children could not help overhearing in their bedrooms. Steven and his sisters came to dread their parents’ nocturnal talk of divorce, a melodrama that dragged on for years and left the children emotionally ragged, clinging to each other for support. The mounting tension at home during Steven’s boyhood years “was hard on him,” teacher Pat Rodney observes, “but I think it made him a caring person.”


Living under such strain heightened Steven’s sense of social alienation and took away some of the solace that a happy home life could have provided for a boy who felt uncomfortable being Jewish in a mostly gentile environment and often was bullied at school and on his way home.


Although people who lived near the Spielbergs at the time agree that the neighborhood was generally harmonious and that blatant expressions of anti-Semitism were not everyday occurrences, ugly incidents occasionally did take place. Janice Zusman, who grew up in the house directly behind the Spielbergs, remembers a neighbor boy drawing swastikas on the sidewalk so that she and another Jewish girl would see them on the way to school. Steven’s mother recalled that the children in one neighbor family “used to stand outside yelling, ‘The Spielbergs are dirty Jews. The Spielbergs are dirty Jews.’ So one night, Steven snuck out of the house and peanut-buttered all their windows.”


“All of us are part of some minority,” Spielberg reflected after making The Color Purple, his film version of Alice Walker’s novel about a southern black woman. “I was Jewish and wimpy when I grew up. That was a major minority. In Arizona, too, where few are Jewish and not many are wimpy.”




*





ARNOLD Spielberg was chief engineer for the process control department of General Electric, working long hours at its plant in Phoenix and on field trips throughout the United States and abroad. Process computers, then in their early developmental stages, run the controls for complex industrial processes, such as utilities, steel mills, and chemical plants. Arnold later shifted to GE’s business-computer department, which he had started as a spinoff from the process-control department.


“Arnold is tremendously intelligent, and sort of like a kid, like his son,” says Walter Tice, a GE application and sales engineer who was responsible for the industrial marketing of Arnold’s process computers. “Arnold was not the typical engineer—he really wanted to learn about the processes, he wanted to go to steel mills and see the steel being made. He’s like Steve, he’s always interested in the whole story. Some of the best engineers are deadheads, no personality, zero. Arnie’s not dull, he has a lot of charm and wit about him. As far as being an engineer goes, he was very creative.”


Arnold insists he did not spend a great deal of time traveling while working for GE: “Leah had the impression I traveled a lot, because she hated to be left alone. So anytime that I was gone, it was like a big deal. When I went to Russia, I was gone for a month. I was offered an opportunity to go to Russia as a representative of GE at the first international control conference, held in Moscow and Leningrad. And I wanted Leah to come, but she couldn’t bring herself to go: ‘Oh, I can’t fly, I’m afraid of flying.’ Now she flies, reluctantly, but then she could not fly. I felt so bad that when I came home, I said, ‘I’ve got to get you something.’ We found an ad for a lovely Steinway grand piano. So we bought this piano, and she loved it.”


Steven also felt Arnold’s absences keenly. His sixth-grade teacher Eleanor Wolf has a poignant memory of a rare appearance Arnold made at the school. When he came back from the Soviet Union, Arnold “brought slides in to show us. That was the only time I saw the kid excited, maybe because his father would take the time to come in. I gathered his father didn’t have too much time for him.”


“I made some movies over in Russia, and Steve edited and titled them,” Arnold adds. “I got him a titler. He spelled a couple of things wrong, but he’d do special effects. He’d put one letter at a time down and take a picture, then another letter, dot-dot-dot-dot-dot, like each letter in the title spelled itself out.”


“His father traveled a lot, and I think that’s why Steve was close to his mother,” says his teacher Pat Rodney. “She was a really strong person in Steve’s life. She gave a lot of time and energy raising her kids, and she didn’t think her raising ended at 8:00 A.M. when they went to school. A lot of kids envied how she showed up at school. She wasn’t a pain in the neck like some moms. She just would drop in and bring Steve his lunch, and she used to come in and clean tables in the cafeteria. She said, ‘I’m the only person with a master’s degree that you have cleaning tables. You may wonder why I spend so much time here. I have a neighbor who comes over and sits in my kitchen. She’s the kind of person who has an orgasm over Beads of Bleach.’”


Although Leah “thought Steve was perfect,” she was “concerned about his personal habits,” his teacher adds. “She came in to my room one time and said they were going to condemn their house if he didn’t bathe. She said, ‘He likes you and his dog, not necessarily in that order. Would you talk to him about his personal cleanliness?’ So I asked him, ‘Listen, do you want those people to remember you as Smelly Spielberg?’” Steven shared his cluttered bedroom with an uncaged lizard and loose parakeets. Leah went in there only to pick up his dirty clothes.


The Spielbergs’ living room was dominated by Leah’s white grand piano, with its lovingly displayed photo of Brahms. “One time Steve ruined the whole top of the piano,” neighbor Bill Gaines reports. “It was never quite the same after that.” There was not much other furniture on their blue shag carpet, partly because Steven often took over the room for filming and partly because Leah didn’t seem interested in that kind of domesticity. “They didn’t have great stuff, except for an Eero Saarinen kitchen table and chairs,” recalls family baby-sitter Susan Roper Arndt. “The TV was [often] broken. I remember when Steven blew up the TV set, the way he hooked it up.”


Leah played classical piano with the Scottsdale Chamber Orchestra, which she helped organize. She also took ballet lessons and “said it was better than going to a psychiatrist,” recalls her neighbor Katherine Galwey. “She used to practice by walking on curbs.” The unconventional Leah also raised eyebrows in the neighborhood with her Army surplus jeep. When Leah drove around in her jeep, “she’d haul,” Sue Arndt says. “You knew she was coming. She was so creative and wonderful. She had short bobbed hair, she always wore short jean dresses, way above her knees, and she always had a great tan, a major great tan.”


Bernard (Bernie) Adler, an engineer who followed Arnold out from New Jersey and worked as his assistant at GE, was a good friend of both Arnold and Leah Spielberg. Bernie, who was unmarried at the time, “was almost like a member of the Spielberg family,” says Walter Tice. “He and Arnold got along great. The three of them would go on vacations together to California. The kids called him Uncle Bernie. He was always there. He did everything with them.”


Later, after divorcing Arnold Spielberg, Leah would enter into an enduring marriage with Bernie Adler, returning to the Orthodox religious practices of her youth, from which she had drifted since marrying the more liberal and assimilated Arnold Spielberg (Bernie died in 1995). Leah found Bernie “so funny, so bright, so moral. I was madly in love.”


Some of their Phoenix neighbors found Leah’s romantic history a bit outré. “I was always confused as to who [Steven’s] father was,” says Steven’s friend Chris Pischke. Katherine Galwey recalls that Leah “told me she loved both men. She said she couldn’t marry ’em both, so she married Mr. Spielberg.”


“We were bohemians growing up in suburbia,” Steven’s sister Sue recalled. Steven once yelled at his mother during his adolescence, “Everyone else’s mother is normal. They go bowling. They go to PTA meetings, and they play bridge.”


“The conventional always appealed to Steven,” Leah once remarked. “Maybe because we weren’t.”




*





MUCH like Elliott in E.T., who has to cope with an absent father and a mother who is so distracted she doesn’t notice for quite some time that he has an alien living in his bedroom, Steven compensated for the instability, isolation, and myriad anxieties of his childhood by taking refuge in a soothing world of magic—in his case, the magic of filmmaking.


“To me, Elliott was always the Nowhere Man from the Beatles song,” Spielberg said. “I was drawing from my own feelings when I was a little kid and I didn’t have that many friends and had to resort to making movies to become quasi-popular and to find a reason for living after school hours…. I was always drowning in little home movies. That’s all I did when I was growing up. That was my escape.”




*





PEOPLE who live in the “Valley of the Sun,” as the Phoenix area is known, are accustomed to seeing movies and television shows being filmed on location. For young movie buffs such as Spielberg and his friends, living in Phoenix was almost like living in a suburb of Hollywood. If Hollywood seemed an almost impossibly remote dream for a kid growing up in a small town in New Jersey, a career in moviemaking or other forms of show business seemed more tangible for a kid living only an hour’s plane trip from Los Angeles. Three students from Spielberg’s high school would become actors in Hollywood: Lynda Carter (TV’s Wonder Woman, who grew up around the corner from him), Dianne Kay (the ingenue in his movie 1941), and Frank Webb (who was directed by Spielberg in a 1970 episode of TV’s Marcus Welby, M.D.). Many parents in the Spielbergs’ comfortable middle-class neighborhood had 8mm or even 16mm movie cameras to document family activities, and there were at least a dozen other young filmmakers besides Steven who were busy making their own amateur movies in town on a regular basis.


One of their inspirations was the daily local TV kiddie show Wallace & Ladmo, a zany potpourri of studio skits, cartoons, and silent slapstick comedy footage (including frequent Western spoofs) shot off-the-cuff in the parks and desert around Phoenix. Wallace & Ladmo had a weekly showcase for young filmmakers, “Home Movie Winners.” Spielberg appeared on the KPHO program in the early 1960s to show a brief piece of film he had shot that “looked like space guys glowing in the dark,” according to series costar and writer Bill Thompson (“Wallace”). “He was very inventive, a bright guy. He was very highly thought of, even as a kid.” When Steven was interviewed about his filmmaking on another local TV show, his father was “amazed—he just was so cool and collected. He was sixteen or seventeen, but he handled it just like he’d been doing it for years.”


Steven was not the only kid in his neighborhood making movies. His budding interest in film was stimulated by his friendship and collaboration with three other amateur filmmakers—Barry Sollenberger, Barry’s younger brother Jim, and Chris Pischke. “Most of us were considered kooks or goofs,” Pischke admits. “When other kids were doing whatever—sports, chasing girls, playing with cars—we were playing with guns and making films. All of us were pretty much self-taught.” “We got our ideas from watching movies and TV—Westerns, sci-fi, war movies, those were the popular types of movies in those days,” Barry Sollenberger recalls. “We all appeared in each other’s movies, and when we were all in a scene and had no one to film it, we’d say, ‘Steve, come and film this scene,’ and vice versa. The person who made the most movies was Steve.”


“It was helpful to Steve, indirectly, that there were other people in the neighborhood equally interested in what normally would be considered an offbeat or off-the-wall type of thing—making movies,” observes Jim Sollen-berger. “If Steve had been a Lone Ranger, the only kid on the block making movies, he might not have been able to pursue it. But since there were two or three other kids, that gives you some support, instead of people looking at you as a complete geek. It was a pretty good place to incubate.”
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STEVEN’S budding interest in filmmaking remained unfocused, however, until he became a Boy Scout, a member of the Flaming Arrow Patrol of Ingleside’s Troop 294. He made his first real attempt at a story film in order to earn his photography merit badge in 1958. “Scouting gave me my start,” Steven has said. “… Boy Scouts put me in the center of the loop. It sort of brought out things I did well and forgave me for things I didn’t.” He found that the Boy Scouts helped him fill a growing emotional void. With his father becoming “as much a workaholic as I am today,” he later explained, “as a child I didn’t understand, and Scouting became like a surrogate dad.”


Troop 294 went out into the desert in convoys of station wagons to pitch tents for weekend campouts and also made week-long visits to Camp Geronimo, the Phoenix area’s organized Scouting camp. Arnold Spielberg was treasurer of Steven’s troop. He went along on a few outings, and Steven wistfully remembered that on those weekends, “We became our closest.” Dick Hoffman, who supervised the boys on many outings, says that Steven’s father “wasn’t a big participator in our activities. He was a hardworking engineer. Few parents will go out in the wilds for the weekend—they don’t like that. Those of us who do get interested are zealots. I think we all felt we were filling a need for these kids.”


“I always had the feeling [Steven] was somewhat embittered about his father,” says fellow Scout Charles Carter. “He was really close to his mother and disowned his father.”


Hoffman remembers “Stevie” Spielberg as “a skinny, little, inconspicuous fellow. I worried about him, because I liked him very much. He seemed to go in fits and starts—he would dash from one thing to another. I thought it was a disability, not being able to concentrate the way the rest of us would. I knew he was wildly enthusiastic about things, but I didn’t think he had enough ability to analyze things. I tried to stabilize him, and that didn’t work out very well.


“What stands out in my mind was a time they were all going off to cook wieners and marshmallows. The kids were going to scrape around, picking up combustible pieces of wood to build a fire. Stevie would rush around and pick up about three or four little twigs and start his fire. I told him, ‘Stevie, that’s no good. You’ve got to go out and get a big pile to start a fire.’ He just couldn’t do it. He was too impatient to get the fire started. I thought, When he grows up and gets into the real world he’s going to have a tough time keeping up. I didn’t dream anything would come of him. Of course, that was a complete misjudgment of the kid’s personality.”


Steven admitted he “was always doing doofy things” as a Scout. When he demonstrated ax-sharpening at a gathering of five hundred area Scouts, “On the second stroke, I put the blade through my knuckle.” Another time, on an “absolutely freezing night,” he was supposed to build a fire for cooking, but “I dropped my mess kit into the mud. Couldn’t get the fire started. I was hungry and also very tired, and instead of putting the canned food into a pot, I forgot and put the cans unopened on the fire. They exploded, sending shrapnel in all directions. No one was hurt, but everyone within about twenty yards of my cookout needed new uniforms.”


Nevertheless, Steven earned the respect of his fellow Scouts, becoming assistant patrol leader, then patrol leader, and working gamely to overcome his limitations to become an Eagle Scout. Completing his one-mile swim requirement was a major challenge. He was afraid of the water and “really couldn’t swim a mile, but it was a case of mind over muscle, once I determined I was going to do it. I remember pulling myself out of the water after that in a complete sort of wet haze…. I got more respect for myself in being able to overcome those phobias momentarily.”


“I was one of the leaders who had to initial their cards when they completed their requirements,” fellow Scout Tim Dietz recalls. “Steve couldn’t do the obstacle course. That was the only thing he couldn’t do to get Eagle Scout. We worked on him and worked on him: ‘Come on, Steve, you’ve got to complete the course!’ We held onto Steve’s legs to make sure that he could do all the pullups required. He was a good sport about everything—a good guy. He wasn’t the kid we beat up or anything else.”


Dietz admits, however, that they sometimes pulled pranks on Spielberg. He and a few others once persuaded Steven to take part in a “snipe hunt,” a prank which involved sending a gullible boy out in the darkened desert hunting for birds with a pillowcase. Dietz laughingly remembers Spielberg “sitting on the side of a mountain about a hundred yards from us, yipping and yapping and callin’ in the snipes.”


But sometimes the hazing went too far for Steven. “A guy named Rechwald had his pants down taking a crap,” Charles Carter remembers. “Rechwald was an underling in the pecking order; I think he was a little obese. Spielberg intervened because we were torturing Rechwald with a flashlight—everybody was shining lights on Rechwald, exposing him and chuckling at him. Spielberg got mad because they were embarrassing him. I think we tortured Steve a little bit [for protesting]—not seriously, we were just kids. But they laid off on Rechwald. I didn’t think much about it at the time, but looking back, I was impressed. Most kids didn’t stand up against peer pressure. He did. He took a stand.”
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STEVEN became “much beloved of the boys because of his imagination,” Dick Hoffman says. Steven “was always reading, always bringing books along” to camp, and when the boys pitched their pup tents and bunked down for the night, he would provide the entertainment with his own storytelling. Hoffman’s son Bill remembers that Spielberg’s stories “tended to be science-fiction—lots of monster-from-outer-space stories.”


“I was a great storyteller in Boy Scouts,” Spielberg recalled in 1982. “I used to sit around the campfire and scare forty Scouts to death with ghost stories.” The image is archetypal: Spielberg’s TV series Amazing Stories started each week with a montage showing the development of storytelling through the ages, beginning with a caveman spinning stories around a campfire. When Steven told stories to his fellow Scouts, “The whole semicircle would fall silent, all of them listening to what came out of the tent,” Dick Hoffman says. “He’s got the damnedest imagination of anyone I ever knew. The other kids were rapt in their attention to what he was saying. I don’t think he was terribly popular except when he was telling those stories.”


“It’s what made him special,” says fellow Scout Bob Proehl.


Steven’s storytelling ability also manifested itself in teacher Ferneta Sulek’s seventh-grade class, classmate Del Merrill remembers: “He would always write some short story or some kind of fantastic story that was fun to hear. We’d all read our stories aloud and you didn’t want to hear some people’s stories. But everybody always wanted to listen to his story. He brought mystery into it, too. He often would have a twist ending, and he could scare you. A lot of his stories were a blend of humor and science fiction. I remember him reading a lot of science-fiction books in seventh and eighth grade. He said it was his favorite kind of reading.”


Spielberg, who has been described by Ray Bradbury as “probably the son of H. G. Wells, certainly the grandson of Jules Verne,” acquired his passion for science fiction from the pulp magazines and paperbacks his father left around the house. Steven’s tastes included not only the visionary fantasies of such masters as Bradbury, Arthur C. Clarke, and Robert A. Heinlein, but virtually any kind of sci-fi yarn between covers.


Spielberg’s obsession with science fiction was “one of the fascinating things about him,” says Gene Ward Smith, a fellow sci-fi buff who later attended high school with him in California. “Here I’d gone through my life, and if I met a guy who’d read one science-fiction book, I’d read fifty—and he’d read all this stuff. He’d read stuff I hadn’t read. He’d also seen all these science-fiction movies I hadn’t seen, like The Day the Earth Stood Still. He took me through the whole plots of Forbidden Planet and the sleazeball monster movies. We spent a lot of time talking about science-fiction shows on TV—he wasn’t a big fan of Science Fiction Theater, but he thought The Twilight Zone was wonderful.”


Outer space was brought close to home for Steven by the work of his uncle Bud, the rocket scientist, and Scout leader Dick Hoffman, who was program manager for Motorola on space communications equipment linking ground stations to astronauts on Apollo moon flights and sending photo transmissions from interplanetary satellites. Many of the Flaming Arrow Patrol meetings were held in Hoffman’s backyard “hobby house,” a guest house full of elaborate ham radio equipment he had built himself, along with a planetarium and a globe of the world that lit up to indicate places he was calling. Many years later Spielberg told Dick Hoffman how much he envied his son for having a father who was “the Mr. Wizard of Phoenix, Arizona.” A huge antenna loomed above the hobby house, with a platform the boys could climb to peer into a four-foot-long telescope to study the stars over Camelback Mountain on cloudless nights. Steven, who later shot part of Firelight in the hobby house and the orange grove surrounding it, was fascinated by the telescope. He set up a smaller telescope to watch the skies from his own backyard. Once, when he found Saturn, he excitedly invited the neighborhood kids to come around and share the sight with him.


When Steven wasn’t reading science fiction or making movies, he usually was watching television. His memories of TV-watching in Phoenix are somewhat distorted. He once complained that “Phoenix, Arizona, is not exactly the culture center of the United States. We had nothing! Except, probably, the worst television you’ve ever seen. They showed one movie on three different channels, The Atomic Kid [a 1954 comedy starring Mickey Rooney as a radioactive survivor of an atomic bomb blast]. They kept repeating that for years!”


But even if Phoenix TV was a wasteland for movies, there was a lot more to watch than The Atomic Kid. In addition to The Twilight Zone, Steven enjoyed Alfred Hitchcock Presents and Steve Allen’s comedy-variety shows. When he attended high school in California, Spielberg (whose middle name is Allan) would introduce himself by saying, “I’m Steve Allan … Spielberg.” He also liked the comedy of Ernie Kovacs and You Bet Your Life with Groucho Marx. But the comedy show that influenced him most when he was growing up in Phoenix was the locally produced favorite Wallace & Ladmo.


“These guys [Bill Thompson and Ladimir Kwiatkowski] were inventive and original, and they turned me on,” Spielberg recalled. “They were my idols. I watched them every day. I grew up and I was supposed to be too old to watch them, and I still watched them, because they were very hip. They always kept abreast of the times. They were the Saturday Night Live before Saturday Night Live. Essentially they were contemporary humorists. They never talked down to kids, that’s what I remember most about them. They never treated kids as children; they always treated them as peers. I will never forget the day they took Stan Freberg’s album United States of America [i.e., Stan Freberg Presents The United States of America, a satirical revue of early American history], and they did the whole thing on their show, they lip-synched to the record. It was just great. I remember buying the album after that and memorizing it.”
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STEVEN’S movie fanaticism was nurtured at the Kiva Theater on Main Street in Scottsdale, which showed sexy “adult” movies in the evenings but had kiddie matinees every Saturday. Parents would drop off their kids and leave them all day with fifty cents’ admission to a program including two features—grade-B Westerns and Tarzan movies, sci-fi and monster movies, and occasionally more prestigious films, such as John Huston’s Moby Dick and John Ford’s The Searchers—along with ten cartoons, Our Gang shorts, and two installments of the kinds of serials Spielberg would pastiche so affectionately in his Indiana Jones movies. “It was a great Saturday,” Spielberg recalled. “I was in the movies all day long, every Saturday. I saw Tailspin Tommy and Masked Marvel and Commando Cody and Spy Smasher—serials like that.”


“I’ve seen absolute duplicates in Spielberg movies of scenes we used to see back in the 1950s at the Kiva, in serials filmed in the 1930s and 1940s,” reports Barry Sollenberger. “When Harrison Ford in Raiders of the Lost Ark rides his horse down the hill and jumps onto the truck carrying the ark, Spielberg got it from the 1937 serial Zorro Rides Again, with John Carroll, even the camera angle—Zorro is riding a horse chasing after a train, and he jumps into a semi truck going down a freeway.”


Arnold Spielberg took Steven and Jim Sollenberger to see Alfred Hitchcock’s Psycho at the Round-Up Drive-In in I960, on a double bill with Roger Corman’s House of Usher. “Psycho absolutely scared the living shit out of me,” Jim remembers. “All three of us were in the front seat. Steve was in the middle, I was on the side, and I remember breaking his dad’s little wind-wing window.” Steven later told neighbor Tom Simmons how impressed he had been with Hitchcock’s employment of the power of suggestion: “Steve talked about the shower scene in Psycho, how Hitchcock never showed any real violence—he showed you the knife and this and that, but most of it was in the viewer’s mind.”


Steven and his friends could get a bit rowdy when they attended movies at the Kiva Theater—once they were kicked out for making too much noise —and when they took the bus to see first-run movies at theaters in downtown Phoenix. The uproarious scene of the ghastly little title characters in Spielberg’s 1984 production Gremlins tearing the theater apart while watching Snow White and the Seven Dwarfs is a homage to fondly remembered boyhood mischief.


When Irwin Allen’s dinosaur movie The Lost World played one of Phoenix’s biggest theaters in I960, Steven recalled, “My friends and I took a lot of white bread and mixed it with milk, Parmesan cheese, creamed corn, and peas. We put this foul-smelling mixture into bags, went to the movie, and sat in the highest balcony. At the most exciting part, we made vomiting sounds and squeezed the solution over the balcony on the people below. We did it for laughs. Little did we realize that it would begin a chain reaction of throwing up. The movie was stopped, the houselights came on, and ushers appeared with their flashlights—ready to kill. We were so frightened that we raced out the fire-escape exit. Even though we had brought two cars, the seven of us ran about a mile and took a bus home.”‡


Spielberg and his pals especially liked the historical epics and other big-screen spectacles in vogue during that period. “Ben-Hur [1959] was in town for a year,” Jim Sollenberger recalls, “but Steve, being Jewish, was reluctant to go see that movie because they advertised it as ‘A Tale of the Christ.’ I went to see it and thought it was fantastic. I finally persuaded him to go see it, and he said he was surprised a movie could be that good. Steve and I also saw On the Double [1961], a comedy with Danny Kaye, and we both thought it was hilarious. It’s tough to imagine comedy coming out of Nazis, but Danny Kaye did it. He would disguise himself as Hitler, and I can remember Steve for years after that jumping up and giving Danny Kaye’s Hitler salute.”


The movies that impressed Steven the most in his Arizona boyhood were two epics directed by British master David Lean—The Bridge on the River Kwai (1957) and Lawrence of Arabia (1962). Spielberg later called Lean “the greatest influence I ever had.” He has emulated Lean’s magisterial sense of visual storytelling throughout his career, especially in the underrated 1987 World War II drama Empire of the Sun, a project he inherited from Lean himself.


Haven Peters, a classmate who acted in two of Spielberg’s amateur movies, remembers that in theater-arts class at Arcadia High School, “Steve was promoting The Bridge on the River Kwai as the greatest movie because of its stupendous action scenes, especially ‘the greatest scene ever’ (or words to that effect), ‘the way Alec Guinness falls, dying, onto the dynamite plunger.’ And, animated by the thought, he acted out Sir Alec’s famous fall.”


Speaking at Lean’s Life Achievement Award tribute from the American Film Institute in 1990, Spielberg declared that River Kwai and Lawrence “made me want to be a filmmaker. The scope and audacity of those films filled my dreams with unlimited possibilities.”
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IN the summer of 1958, shortly after finishing fifth grade, Steven “was working on Eagle Scout and doing merit badges, and he kinda ran out of ideas of what to do for a merit badge,” his father recalls. “I said, ‘Well, they have a photography merit badge. Why don’t you take this little movie camera and go out in the desert and make a Western? See if the scoutmaster will accept it.’ So I gave him three rolls of film and he went out in the desert and made this little Western.”


The movie had no title cards. Steven subsequently referred to his first attempt at cinematic storytelling as The Last Gunfight, The Last Gun, and The Last Shootout.§ The primitive little Western, which was edited in the camera, had a cast made up of fellow Scouts and other pals, including Jim and Barry Sollenberger.


“A bunch of neighborhood kids went out in a station wagon with Steven’s dad to a restaurant named Pinnacle Peak Patio [a Western steakhouse in Scottsdale], which had a red stagecoach parked in front of it,” recalls Jim Sollenberger, who played the lead. “Steven’s dad did most of the filming, or all of the filming. We were not old enough to handle a camera. The movie was Steven’s idea. He had more of the director role; it was his toy.


“I played a bandit with a bandanna and a cap pistol. I robbed a stage with two people on top. The camera was positioned so that you couldn’t see that there weren’t any horses. The people threw the money down from the stage. Then we got in the car and drove out in the desert. I remember my cowboy hat blew off during one scene and, like in the old Westerns, we naturally left it in and in the next scene I was wearing my hat. It ended with me being shot and rolling down the rocks. [When Jim was tossed over a cliff, he was doubled by a dummy made up of pillows, clothes, and shoes.] Steve and his dad had broken a ketchup bottle for blood and poured it on the rocks. I was grinning ear-to-ear trying to be serious. I remember getting no end of crap from them over the years because I was lying there dead and grinning.”


Making that early Western gave Steven “a sense of power bossing around a few kids who otherwise would be slapping me around. But that wasn’t so important. I was making something happen that I could relive over and over again, something that would only be a memory without a camera in my hand.”


When the film was shown at the next Monday night’s troop meeting, Steven recalled, “the Boy Scouts cheered and applauded and laughed at what I did, and I really wanted to do that, to please again.”


Steven began taking his camera along on every Scout trip, filming everything that happened, from the boys getting on and off cars and buses to their physical exertions and shenanigans at camp. When he showed the movies at troop and patrol meetings, some of which were held in his house, he enjoyed seeing “everyone come out of their seats, partly because they were in the picture.”


Starting his moviemaking career shooting film without sound was excellent discipline in the art of visual storytelling, comparable to the training received by the great directors who started in silent movies and perfected their craft in the sound era, such as Hitchcock and John Ford. Steven’s friend Terry Mechling also had a family 8mm movie camera, and over two Saturdays during seventh grade he and Steven put together a silent homage to Ford in Mechling’s backyard, a two-reel Western starring classmate Steve Swift. “It was pretty much action-packed, just a straight robbery-chase kind of thing, with the general store robbed and the sheriff chasing the robbers, more scenes than a thought-through movie,” Mechling recalls. “We both liked the same movie—John Ford’s The Searchers—and that was one of the movies we felt we could emulate.”


Spielberg remembers having made about fifteen or twenty 8mm movies as an amateur filmmaker, but that rough estimate covers only his completed story films, not all the varied footage he shot while growing up. His movies sometimes had no stories, but were simply experiments in filming techniques. “He would look at anything and see how it would look through the lens,” Mechling says. Steven even hooked up a camera cart behind his cocker spaniel, Thunder, and had the dog tow it around the neighborhood to make a movie called A Day in the Life of Thunder.


Steven “had an attitude about the use of film that I didn’t,” Arnold Spielberg says. “I’m a Depression baby. When I grew up, everything was expensive. When I used to put film in the camera, I tried to use every bit for taking pictures. He’d take several rolls and he’d experiment. He’d try out close-ups, he’d try out stop frames, he’d try out slow motion. I used to say, ‘Steve! Use the film efficiently!’ He said, ‘Dad, I gotta experiment.’” Cinematographer Allen Daviau has described Arnold as Steven’s “first producer.” “That’s right—‘Watch the money!’” Arnold laughs. “That’s what they say about George Lucas [who has produced Spielberg’s three Indiana Jones movies]: Lucas would try to control the number of retakes that he wanted to do. Now Steve’s good at it. He knows how to manage things.”


Steven soon became impatient with the limitations of his 8mm home movie camera. “I remember I was over at his house,” says next-door neighbor Bill Simmons Jr., “and I went in the bathroom and he was working on some kind of sound effects in the sink, making different sounds in the water.” Jim Sollenberger recalls an even more remarkable experiment Steven made with him when they were thirteen years old: “He filmed me as a hideous intruder in the night, coming down the hallway in his house directly into his bedroom. He filmed it in 8mm—in CinemaScope. He bought an anamorphic lens that he had found in a catalogue, that would squeeze the image down. He put one adapter on the camera and one on the projector. For most of the filming, he was lying on the floor looking up at me. He’d bought a spotlight, and it was hotter than hell. I was holding a big butcher knife, and he filmed me quite effectively—I turned the knife in such a way that we saw a glint of it coming across his camera a couple of times.”


When Steven was in eighth grade, teacher Pat Rodney had a “career exploration” project, encouraging students to show what they planned to do for a living. Steven went out in the desert with some classmates and made another 8mm Western, this time with a primitive soundtrack. His teacher recalls that Steven ran an accompanying tape of “dialogue, screaming, and galloping. They were rolling around in the desert shooting and stuff. One of the things I remember was the money he spent on props to make it look realistic. He spent his allowance on bags of blood. We had a great time—we ran the movie forward and backward, and we all hollered. We all knew he had some special talent.”


“I’m going to make movies,” Steven told the class. “I’m going to direct and produce movies.”




*





“I WAS an exhibitor when I was twelve, thirteen, fourteen years old,” Spielberg has recalled. “I exhibited 16mm movies for a charity in my dad’s family room in Phoenix, Arizona. And I never made those movies. I never made Davy Crockett or Toby Tyler or any of the [other] Disney films that were available to me to exhibit for this charity. But in watching the reaction of the kids getting off on the movies, I felt as if I had made those films…. I wanted to run my amateur theater like the big time. It gave me the feeling I was part of a large industry.”


In fact, as people who attended those screenings vividly recall, Steven did show his own movies, usually as curtain-raisers for the programs of Hollywood features, cartoons, and serials. Some of the profits were given to the building fund of a local school for the retarded, the Perry Institute. In July 1962, The Arizona Republic ran a feature on four benefit screenings of Davy Crockett, King of the Wild Frontier Steven held on a single day. “Producer-director-scriptwriter-cameraman Steven Spielberg, age 15, has now turned entrepreneur,” wrote columnist Maggie Savoy. He told her he would have shown one of his own films to help the Perry Institute, but that most of the neighborhood kids had already seen all of his movies, and “anyway, they’re nothing great. They don’t have any stars in them—just all my friends.”


Steven made his own posters and ran off advertising fliers on his father’s office mimeograph machine. His father would bring home a GE 16mm projector. Anne and Sue took tickets and peddled popcorn, candy bars, Kool-Aid, and Popsicles at a refreshment stand during intermissions. “Leah would leave—she would abandon it,” Steven’s friend Doug Tice remembers. “They had an agreement he had to clean up when he was done.” On summer nights, Steven devised his own equivalent of a drive-in movie theater by hanging a sheet on his mother’s clothesline in the backyard and showing movies to kids gathered on his patio.


Between screenings, Steven quizzed his audiences about their reactions, using the neighborhood kids as his own early version of what Hollywood today calls a “focus group.” It was invaluable feedback for a budding director who wanted to understand how to appeal to the mass audience. And by immersing himself in the nuts and bolts of exhibiting movies, he acquired knowledge that has enabled him to supervise the marketing and distribution of his Hollywood productions with a rare degree of expertise. Barry Sollen-berger was impressed by Steven’s precocious commercial savvy: “He would rent Francis (The Talking Mule). I thought it was a goofy movie, but the neighborhood kids loved it. He would rent what the kids would see, what would sell.”


The primary purpose of Steven’s screenings, Arnold Spielberg says, was “to make money for his movies.” When he began making movies, Steven recalled, “My dad financed them—about twenty bucks per film.” But after Steven’s filmmaking became a steady habit, he found he needed an additional source of revenue. The money raised by selling concessions at the screenings “was used to finance his ongoing purchase of film,” Arnold explains. “He’d give the girls a little, but the rest was his money to buy whatever film he wanted. I wouldn’t let him keep the money for admission. I said, ‘You can’t do that. We’re using somebody else’s film. It’s not licensed to us.’ So he would donate that money to the Perry Institute for retarded children, and he would get a lot of publicity out of that. I said, ‘You got more credit for donating that money to the Perry Institute than you would out of saving it and buying film.’”


From time to time Steven augmented his income from the screenings by whitewashing fruit trees to protect them from bugs and the blistering Arizona heat. Like other boys, he would pick up fifteen or twenty dollars spending a few hours whitewashing the trees in neighbors’ yards. Another time, he went to the Scottsdale shop of his family hairdresser, Paul Campanella, and said, “You need something done here. I know I can earn fifty dollars. Let me look around.” As Campanella remembered, “He looked around and went to the ladies’ room, checked it out, and said, ‘Your ladies’ room is terrible. Let me do it all.’ So I said, ‘OK, go ahead, paint it all.’ I went to look at it the next morning. I couldn’t believe what he painted. He painted the faucets, he painted the handle on the toilet, he painted the trap underneath the sink, he painted the little [aperture] around the drain, he painted the chrome around the mirror.”


For all of Spielberg’s business enterprises, “He didn’t really care about making money,” Doug Tice points out. “That was not one of his goals. Even when he was showing movies at his house, he wasn’t doing it to make money. He was doing it to support his addiction to making movies.”


“People who don’t know me think I’m just motivated by money or success,” Spielberg told The New York Times in 1992. “But I’ve never been motivated by that. I’ve never based a decision on money.”




*





STEVEN’S fascination with collecting soundtracks began when he bought the album for George Pal’s 1950 sci-fi movie Destination Moon, and it became an enduring passion. He has hundreds of movie soundtrack albums, including some of the rarest titles. His intimate familiarity with classic movie scores and composers has helped him greatly in conceiving scenes with music as an integral component, and in talking the musical language of longtime collaborator John Williams. Spielberg would “make my 8mm home movies when I was a kid by taking the soundtrack from some score like [Elmer Bernstein’s] The Great Escape or [Miklos Rozsa’s] Spellbound and inventing a movie to the music.”


“I can remember spending summer afternoons, when it was miserable outside, in Steven’s room listening to soundtrack albums,” says Bill Hoffman, who played the piano for high school musicals while Steven played the clarinet. Tom Simmons “never will forget” the day Steven came to his house, discovered his xylophone, and “hit notes playing songs from every single Western known to man on television—Gunsmoke, Maverick, Cheyenne, whatever was on TV in those days.”


Influenced by his mother’s love of music, Steven joined the Ingleside Thunderbird Band, spending several years playing the clarinet at school ceremonies, recitals, and football games, and marching in a black-and-white uniform with a gold-plumed high hat in local parades, including the annual Parado del Sol before 100,000 people in Scottsdale. The band’s repertoire included the standard John Philip Sousa marches and the “Colonel Bogey March” from The Bridge on the River Kwai.


“He was a very energetic young lad, well liked by all of those around him,” says band director Rodney Gehre. “He was obedient, he was a good listener, and he had discipline. I always gave him the top grade. But it’s a good thing he did what he did [i.e., made movies], because he probably wouldn’t have made it as a musician. Well, maybe he would have. He was very creative—he would take a little lick on his instrument and make a little jazz figure on it. It seemed that playing the clarinet was a good release for him.”




*





WHEN Steven was in his second semester of fifth grade, teacher Helen Patton went to Ingleside principal Richard T. Ford and complained about his obsession with moviemaking. “He was driving her nuts,” Ford recalls. “He did some filming at the school, and he was always talking about it. I remember having a talk with him in my office. He came in—I think he took his camera into the office—and talked about what he was doing. I said to her, ‘Oh, for cryin’ out loud, get off the kid’s back and leave him alone.’ I wasn’t encouraging him because he was making movies, even though I’d like to say that—it was because he was active, because he was a busy little guy, and he never bothered anybody; and because I always liked to have kids be in a position where they could dream. If a kid wanted to sit by himself beside a wall and watch the clouds go by, that was fine with me. There has to be a time for dreams.”


When called upon to read aloud in class, Steven, much to his embarrassment, was “a very slow reader.” Even today he considers it “sort of a shame” that he does not have the same passion for reading that he has for motion pictures. It is an intriguing question how much his prodigious visual sense may be compensation for his difficulties with reading, and, conversely, how much his difficulties with reading stem from his intense inclination toward the visual. His mind would often wander while he was reading in school, and he would amuse himself by drawing stick figures on the edges and flipping the pages, making his own animated movie.


Although he never made the honor roll, during his last two years in grade school Spielberg impressed social studies teacher Pat Rodney as “a good student,” demonstrating an especially keen interest in history. It was in her class that the future director of Schindler’s List first saw film footage of the Nazi concentration camps. She ran a documentary about Nazism called The Twisted Cross, which “showed the real thing—dead bodies, people hanging from barbed wire—it was shocking. In order to show the movie I had to get permission from the parents. I did it for several years, and I always involved somebody who was a true Holocaust person, who’d been in the camps.”


While on location in Poland making Schindler’s List, Spielberg told a journalist that although he had relatives who died in the Holocaust, and although he knew Holocaust survivors as a child in Cincinnati, those stories did not become real to him until he saw The Twisted Cross.




*





THERE was a dark side to Steven in his childhood, a pent-up aggression stemming from the harassment he received from bigger boys and from the tensions between his parents. “He could be a little brat at times,” remembers Sylvia Gaines, who lived across the street. “He was always out there pelting younger kids with oranges. At his bar mitzvah [open house at his home on January 10, I960], they had to call the kids off—he was up on the roof throwing oranges. I’m sure he was venting some of his latent talent.”


In the same 1978 interview in which he confessed to the vomiting prank in a movie theater, Spielberg described his most serious instance of youthful misconduct: “By today’s standards, we were pretty straight. But I did have a six-month fling as a juvenile delinquent. One day I went with four of my friends to a modern shopping mall that was being built and threw rocks at plate-glass windows for three hours. We later discovered we had caused about thirty thousand dollars’ worth of damage.”¶


He usually took out his frustrations by bullying his “three screaming younger sisters” and some of their little girlfriends.


“Every Saturday morning my parents would escape from the four of us kids,” Anne Spielberg has recalled. “The minute they were out of the house I would run to my room and blockade the door. Steven would push it all away and then punch me out. My arms would be all black and blue. Sue and Nancy would get it next, if they had done some misdeed. Then when he was through doling out punishment, we would all get down to making his movies.”


Nancy never has forgotten the time when she and her sisters “were sitting with our dolls, and Steven was singing as if he was on the radio. Then he interrupted himself ‘to bring us an important message.’ He announced that a tornado was coming, then flipped us over his head to safety. If we looked at him, he said, we’d turn to stone.”


“When I would put Annie to bed,” their mother recalled, “Steven would hide outside her window and say in this eerie voice, ‘I am the Mooooon!’ Annie would scream in terror…. Once I bought Nancy a doll for Hanukkah, and one night while I was out, he cut off the doll’s head and served it to her on a big platter with a bed of lettuce and garnished with parsley and tomatoes. At this point Nancy didn’t even freak out. Baby-sitters would not come into the house. They’d say, ‘We’ll take care of the girls if you take him with you.’”


“I remember being totally scared of him,” says Janice Zusman, who lived in the house behind the Spielbergs. “One time Susie and I were playing Barbie dolls by the canal near our house, on Indian School Road. I would have been grounded for life if my parents knew I’d even gone near the canal. We were pretending it was the Grand Canyon. Steve was bugging us and teasing us: ‘If you don’t do whatever’—unfortunately, I don’t remember what it was he wanted us to do—‘then I’m going to throw your Barbie into the canal.’ He grabbed my Barbie doll and yanked the head off and threw it into the canal. The most important thing in my life was this Barbie doll! It was so traumatic I’ve been talking about it ever since. The worst thing was that I couldn’t tell my folks, so I had to go down and fish the head out of the canal.”


“Steven loves to do that stuff—he was always doing something to scare somebody,” says neighbor Bill Gaines. “He’d get younger kids in some kind of situation he wanted—when Sue and Anne were over at our house climbing trees or whatever—and he’d get it on film real quick. He always had a camera ready so whatever the moment was he’d catch it for future use later on. He was almost fanatical about having his camera with him.”


Reminiscing about his behavior toward his sisters, Steven admitted, “I loved terrifying them to the point of cardiac arrest. I remember a movie on television with a Martian who kept a severed head in a fishbowl. It scared them so much they couldn’t watch it. So I locked them in a closet with a fishbowl. I can still hear the terror breaking in their voices.” He also used the closet as the setting for another exercise in creative sadism. The props included a plastic skull, a light bulb, a pair of goggles, and his father’s Army Air Forces aviator cap. Out of them Steven fashioned the desiccated head of a dead World War II pilot. Luring the girls into the darkened closet, Steven switched on the light inside the skull and relished the sound of his sisters screaming at the grisly apparition.


His later penchant for scaring the wits out of movie audiences is a creative outgrowth of those childhood pranks. He has described Poltergeist as “all about the terrible things I did to my younger sisters.” From Spielberg’s boyhood fondness for mutilating dolls and smearing ketchup on the walls to make his sisters believe they were seeing blood, it was a short step to showing a little girl abducted by ghosts inside her suburban home and homicidal skeletons bursting out of the backyard swimming pool. And in the Indiana Jones movies, those extended homages to his boyhood moviegoing experiences at the Kiva Theater, Spielberg’s relish in putting his heroines through the most grueling ordeals with such creatures as snakes, bugs, and rats has the unmistakable aura of an incorrigible overgrown adolescent’s tormenting of the opposite sex.
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NOT every girl in Steven’s neighborhood was afraid of him.


“Of all those older boys, Steven was the nicest, because he just wanted to take pictures of us,” says actress Lynda Carter, who is four years younger than Steven. “He at least interacted with us instead of torturing us and tying us to trees. He had an 8mm camera and he was always filming. My sister Pamela and I always put on shows in our backyard—singing and dancing— and he filmed some of them. I recall our begging him to film us. He would go, ‘Oh, OK.’ He did ask us to do crazy things, like hanging in trees, but he didn’t ever really traumatize us.”


Classmate Nina Nauman Rivera says that although Steven was “really shy” around girls, he had a crush on one of the prettiest girls in his neighborhood, who was in the class behind him, and he “used to try out some film ideas on her.” His friend Del Merrill describes a certain “buck-toothed blond-haired little girl” as having been Steven’s “girlfriend” in seventh grade. But Steven remembers his first romantic experience as somewhat traumatic: “I’ll never forget the time I discovered girls. I was in the fifth grade. My father took me to a drive-in movie with a little girlfriend of mine. This girl had her head on my arm, and the next day my parents lectured me about being promiscuous at an early age.”


That may have accounted for some of the reserve he showed around girls in his high school years in Arizona, a time when no one can remember him having a single formal date, even though he had female friends and worked with girls on school plays and on his movies. His friend and fellow movie-maker Chris Pischke thinks Steven didn’t date because he was “a fanatic about doing film. Plus, it would have cost him money that he would have spent on his movies. What made Steven who he is is that he was single-minded—he didn’t care about anything except making movies.”


“I don’t think he realized the crushes that some girls had on him,” Anne Spielberg said. “Some of my friends had major crushes on him. If you looked at a picture of him then, you’d say, Yes, there’s a nerd. There’s the crewcut, the flattop, there are the ears. There’s the skinny body. But he really had an incredible personality. He could make people do things. He made everything he was going to do sound like you wished you were a part of it.”
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WHEN he was in eighth grade at Ingleside, Spielberg’s creative energies burst forth into a wide variety of cinematic genres, including his Western for Patricia Scott Rodney’s “career exploration” project; a filmed record of a school play, the mystery Scary Hollow, made with his friend Roger Sheer, a member of the cast; and a slapstick comedy. The comedy featured trick photography of students’ heads popping out from both sides of trees, speeded-up chases, and other sight gags reminiscent of Mack Sennett silent two-reelers. Spielberg screened it at Halloween 1960 as part of the school’s annual outdoor fund-raising carnival, in a booth on the playground decorated with a sign reading “Steve Spielberg’s Home Movies.” The filmmaker would show his little movie to anyone for a quarter.


The Spielberg movie that people remember best from that remarkable school year—the one that pointed most clearly toward his future—was a World War II flying movie, Fighter Squad. He had begun filming it in seventh grade, and it was his most ambitious project to date. The subject itself was not unusual for a kid in Steven’s neighborhood. “We all made films about World War II,” Spielberg noted. “It was because our fathers had fought in the war and their closets were full of props: souvenirs, uniforms, flags, revolvers that had been fixed so they wouldn’t shoot.” But the way Steven (and his father) managed to bring World War II alive on screen despite an infinitesimal budget still has people who saw Fighter Squad shaking their heads in admiration.


The black-and-white movie, which ran about fifteen minutes, integrated 8mm Castle Films documentary footage of World War II dogfights with scenes Steven shot at the local airport using vintage fighter planes. “If we were making a flying movie,” admits Barry Sollenberger, “it never would have dawned on us to say, ‘Let’s go to the [airport] and really shoot the scene in an actual airplane.’ But Steve got permission to go in the cockpit to film. He would stand on the wings filming as if the plane was actually flying.”


It was Arnold Spielberg who arranged for the use of the plane. “These planes were used for firefighting, aerial drops and things like that,” he says. “We got permission to crawl over ’em and even sit in ’em, but no keys to turn anything on. Steve would climb up on a ladder and climb up on the nose and photograph into the cockpit, with one of the kids sitting there with a helmet on. When he wanted to show him turning, he took the camera and [tilted it], and, so help me, it looked like you’re making a bank! He did his own planning. I would try to open doors to help him get things.” Arnold helped Steven augment the scenes shot at the airfield with close-ups filmed in a backyard mockup of a cockpit, using a painted backdrop and a household fan for a wind machine.


Doug Tice, who is four years younger than Steven, remembers being shown part of Fighter Squad in the filmmaker’s bedroom, which was jammed with movie photos and posters, camera equipment, props and masks, and model airplanes. “When you see a guy about your age in a fighter plane and it looks like a real fighter plane, you say, ‘Wait a minute, how did you do this?’ To this day I wouldn’t know how he did it. I asked him, and he said, ‘I can’t tell you.’ Steve was nice, but he would never tell you the secrets of how he did things.”


“I’d buy seven or eight of those [Castle] films and pull out all the exciting shots and write a movie around them,” Steven explained in a 1978 interview with American Cinematographer magazine. “… If I needed a shot of a young flier pulling back on the stick of a P-51, we’d go out to the Sky Harbor Airport in Phoenix, climb into a P-51 (after our parents got us permission), and I’d shoot a close-up of the stick being pulled back. Then I’d cut to a piece of stock footage of the airplane going into a climb. Then I’d cut back to a close-up of this fourteen-year-old friend of mine grinning sadistically. Then another close-up of his thumb hitting the button. Then another stock shot of the gun mounts firing. I’d put the whole thing together that way.”


Jim Sollenberger, who played the squadron leader, remembers Spielberg also appearing as a flier in the movie: “Spielberg played a German—there were always Germans in Spielberg pictures, never Japanese. Spielberg’s interest was in the Nazis, and I frankly was a little surprised it took him as long as it did to make a movie [Schindler’s List] with them as real villains, not like Raiders of the Lost Ark. In Fighter Squad, Spielberg got shot, in a scene of a plane falling for a long time, spliced in with him in the cockpit trying to get out. He slumped forward and had black or blue food coloring coming out of his mouth. I filmed it; I was on the wing filming sideways into the cockpit to get the effect of the plane going down. I gradually tilted the camera to make it look like the front end was going down. I can remember him being all pissed off after he got back the film because I had shaken the camera too much. He wanted me to shake it a little, but I shook the camera more than he wanted. It was the only time in the years I was around him when he was angry.”


“You know how kids are in eighth grade—all they wanted to do was screw around,” recalls cast member Mike McNamara. “He would say, ‘Everybody calm down—we’re shooting a movie. We do this, we do that, and if you don’t want to do it, leave.’ Everybody else was doing it more or less as a game, and he was very serious about what the end result was supposed to be. It was his life. I was amazed how focused he was. It was unbelievable. It was scary.”




*





WHEN graduation ceremonies were held on May 26, 1961, for Steven’s class at Ingleside Elementary School, Pat Rodney wrote a Class Prophecy, imagining a reunion fifty years in the future:


“Some of us have aged a bit and may be difficult to recognize. We would like to take a little time out right now to introduce you to your classmates once more…. You there, with the tam and glasses, STEVE SPIELBERG, would you please stand so that we may see the producer of those great Smell-o-Rama Productions.” 


Pat Rodney insists she was only making a joke about the then-current exhibition gimmicks of Smell-O-Vision and AromaRama (processes that wafted odors around the movie theater) and that she was not poking fun at the bathing habits of “Smelly Spielberg.” But otherwise the prophecy was remarkably on target.


Asked how she felt when Steven became successful in Hollywood, his favorite grade-school teacher replied, “I wasn’t a bit surprised by his film-making. He was a filmmaker. Always, from the early days.”






* Their house was in Phoenix, not in neighboring Scottsdale, as has often been reported by Spielberg and others.







† One of Steven’s playmates in New Jersey, Cholly Devlin, claims that Steven started experimenting there with stop-motion filmmaking: “He had hundreds of toy soldiers, and he had a small movie camera. Steven would line up all his toy World War II soldiers on the living room floor, underneath his mother’s grand piano. He would move them and film them, and move them and film them, and move them and film them.” However, Arnold Spielberg does not recall Steven making movies in New Jersey. The family did not own a movie camera while living there, but Arnold says it is possible that Steven borrowed a movie camera.







‡ In Spielberg’s 1985 production The Goonies, one of the kids, Chunk (Jeff Cohen), tells that story about himself, calling it “the worst thing I ever done.” Spielberg later directed his own dinosaur movie called The Lost World, his 1997 sequel to Jurassic Park.







§ He also has called it Gunsmog, although his memory may have been playing a trick on him, for that was the parodistic title of an apparently unfilmed Western comedy project he described to The Arizona Republic in 1962.







¶ Spielberg did not mention in that interview what happened to him, if anything, as a result of his juvenile vandalism.
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“With this tour de force, McBride remains the godfather of Spielberg studies.”
—NIGEL MORRIS, author of The Cinema of Steven Spielberg: Empire of Light
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